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Five-year Financial Summary

EFMBRE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non- HEFIBENEEXZVBEREBHRALCEESE
controlling interests of Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the %I &2 EMNEEZERERAE (AAR])
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) KEMBAR(HHE[ALEE])BERENK
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the HFEMNELE EE BENMEERESRABE
published audited financial statements and restated/ #3IAT :

reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEFE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hE —ZT-N\F ZT—+F ZT-RE ZT-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FHET FET FHET

REVENUE & 275,354 262,080 238,406 251,875 291,676
Gross profit EH 93,142 94,055 82,998 82,710 83,616
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  B#iAIEF 36,344 19,806 44,215 33,359 30,491
Income tax expense FTSfiR X (6,031) (8,299) (9,290) (7,720) (5,848)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ & %7 30,313 11,507 34,925 25,639 24,643
Attributable to equity RRRIERRE AEN

holders of the parent 30,313 11,507 34,469 26,038 24,919
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- BEE BERFERER

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December
Rt+=ZA=+—8H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hE —ZT-NF ZT—+F ZT-RE ZT-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET FET TET FHET

Total assets mEE 360,117 256,446 304,699 272,861 253,913
Total liabilities wmaff (38,785) (71,132) (38,731) (44,093) (49,211)
Non-controlling interests  FE¥EARfER - - - (1,877) (2,389)

321,332 185,314 265,968 226,891 202,313

Note: B3

The financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016  AREBBE_T—HF —ET—NFR-_Z—+F+-A4
and 2017 was extracted from the prospectus of the Company issued on 31 December =+ — B IFFEHNMBEREIBEE AR AR _E—N\F
2018 (the “Prospectus”) in connection with the listing of the Company’s shares (the +-A=+—HTZENERER(HBEKRER])  EARE
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock BAATHRONR -_ZE—AE—A+—B(LtmEHBHE
Exchange”) on 11 January 2019 (the “Listing Date"). ERBMEXIAMBRAE ([ EREM (T EM]) -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Dear Valuable Shareholders,

It has been a year since the Listing of Peiport Holdings Ltd..
During the year, our overall business have been developing
steadily “without great ups and downs”. As stated in the
Prospectus, we are stepping forward with the
predetermined plans and procedures. Among the three
business segments, including: (i) thermal imaging products
and services, (ii) self-stabilised imaging products and
services, and (iii) general aviation products and services,
general aviation products and services business segment
performed brilliantly. |, on behalf of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company hereby,
present the annual report of the Company (“Annual Report”)
for 2019 and the outlook for 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EEEE E)

PERFORMANCE REVIEW IN 2019

The China-US trade tensions in 2019 and the social
campaigns in Hong Kong affected the economic
development of Hong Kong, therefore the three business
segments of the Company also faced severe challenges.
Fortunately, due to the introduction of supportive policies in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC" or “Mainland
China”) to develop the general aviation manufacturing
industry, many suppliers which build aircraft and sports and
ultralight aircraft were attracted to set up factories in
Mainland China. At the same time, overseas production lines
are introduced. Hence, the demand for aircraft power
systems has increased significantly.

In 2019, we have been focusing on the talent acquisition and
the formation of research and development teams. In
November 2019, we officially settled in the Hong Kong
Science Park and established Peiport’s research and
development centre in Hong Kong. The new research and
development centre helps improve the quality of our existing
self-owned products and enhances the development of new
products, thus strengthens our competitiveness and further
expands the market, especially in Hong Kong and the
Southeast Asia.

The revenue for the year 2019 increased by approximately
HK$13.3 million to approximately HK$275.4 million, as
compared with the revenue of approximately HK$262.1
million for 2018, with a slight increase of approximately
5.1% compared to 2018. Similar to 2018, the performance
of the general aviation products and services business
segment in 2019 was better than the other two business
segments.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK FOR 2020

Looking forward to 2020, the economic development of
Mainland China is still challenging. However, our Group will
continue to work on its three business segments.

—E-NFREDE

TR -NENPXESERAREENHEE

TEBRBNRBRER - RRN=REBRR
1B F I S ERIE RO DR - PRERR BN EA
RAMB(HE] H[HEA])HETDE
BIEBRRERBEANBAMERIESR - BT
RITeRMESHE MBR MR ZLERERR
R R 5| ABISMN AR EEAR - B SR TR
BN EGNTRKBABATE -

- NFRMEAM S E AL EBE K
BERAEMTTILIE —T-NAF+—A%K
FEVERFARER  BYBEFRESHON
B o FIREROERARMREEEE
mAEE A LR(CHEMAFIE T - Mg
BERMANBFNNE-FTIHRERTS - LERE
BRRERME -

CE-NFFEWRELNAE275.4BEET - 1
=B - NFFERELAE262.1 5 EB T
I3 EEA L B_E—\FEEHH51%
M ER - BT —NFRU —Z—NF
BAMTERRRBIREOEFRIBENEM
R ZETEIRIAR -

—EEEREBRE
RE-T-TF  FENMNEERRNAR

TREE  AMAKEEEB K= AEBR
BREHES S -
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EEEE (&)

BUSINESS OUTLOOK FOR 2020 (Continued)

In terms of thermal imaging products and services, the
demand for instruments to detect fever and abnormal body
temperature will continue to increase with the outbreak of
the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19"). We will
continue to improve our self-owned products while
conducting secondary development of our other products.
Since such products are highly competitive in the domestic
market in Mainland China, thus in terms of the domestic
market in Mainland China, we will continuously focus on the
powerlines inspection and security surveillance, which we
are relatively familiar with, as well as the infrared
temperature detection system in Hong Kong.

In terms of self-stabilised imaging products and services,
there are "Peiport” equipment installed in the helicopters
for power line inspection and airborne security monitoring in
Mainland China, as well as marine patrol, fire fighting and
rescue vessels in Hong Kong, the related equipment will
continue to be installed on such moving platforms. We
expect that there will be moderate growth for the
performance of this business segment. In addition, the
“upgrading and transformation” of our self-stabilised
imaging gyroscope monitoring system will also be carried
out in the research and development centre in the Hong
Kong Science Park, in order to further expand our product
portfolio.

In terms of general aviation products and services, with the
development of the domestic market of general aviation in
Mainland China, it is predicted that the demand in the
market for small aircraft piston engines will remain strong in
2020. We will also invest more manpower in research and
development, production, pre-sales and after-sales services
to improve our product quality and service standards. In
2020, we expect that our performance in the general
aviation business segment will be enhanced to the next
level.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETREEE (E)

APPRECIATION

With the farewell to the year of pig, we welcome the year of
rat. On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all the employees, supervisors,
managers and the management of Peiport Group. With their
endeavor and unremitting effort, we have achieved
outstanding results today. Meanwhile, we also wish to
express our sincere gratitude towards the shareholders,
customers and partners for their long-term support, help,
recognition and tolerance. We will continue to strive to
develop our three business segments, complete the 2020
plan, and meet or exceed our operating targets, so as to
create more values for the shareholders.

Thank youl!

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020

RO B

THEBR  TEOH EUHBERREFTER
DEHNEEENERET T8 KELE
BE FAAMRMNFHMNEM RSN 7
BERREKRE - ARRMAHDROEH SR
R BPUREMANAEBHRNXS 8
B RAMNER - RFEEERNER AT
ZAREBRIE - BATK-_T_FTFNE
EEYBULEESR  RERRMAEEZNHE
B

CET

BRERE
1

B —T-TF=-A—-+xA

HEERERAT / 2019F 3k

9



10

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of thermal
imaging products and services, self-stabilised imaging
products and services, and general aviation products and
services in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Looking back at the global economy for 2019, the economy
of Mainland China was lagging caused by the prolonged
trade friction with the United States (“US"). The gross
domestic product of the PRC rose 6.1% only on a year-to-
year basis compared with the 6.6% growth in 2018. The
European economy remained ambiguous with the
uncertainties of Brexit. In the Middle East, tensions
escalated between the US and Iran. In Hong Kong, the
ongoing social unrest posed an unpredictably negative
impact on the social and economic environment. The global
economy overall show a deceleration and hindered the
business confidence.

The Group has still maintained stable development with a
moderate increase in revenue overall amidst these volatile
market conditions. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the revenue of the Group increased by approximately
5.1% on a year-to-year basis to HK$275.4 million, while the
gross profit decreased by approximately 1.1% on a year-to-
year basis to HK$93.1 million.

In 2019, the Group had set up a new research and
development centre in Hong Kong, dedicated to serve our
customers in Hong Kong and Macau. The new research and
development centre, which has a total floor area of
approximately 182 square metres (“sg.m.”), has provided
the Group additional capabilities to develop infrared body
temperature screening systems and self-stabilised imaging
products for vessels. Besides, the relocation of research and
development centre in Guangzhou is still in progress. It is
expected that the completion of these new research and
development centres would enable us to provide more
tailor-made products and robust services to our customers.

PEIPORTHOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEBNWmRDN (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

A summary of revenue from different segments of the
Group is set out below:

(1) Sale of thermal imaging products and
provision of services

Our products and services in this segment can broadly
be divided into three categories: (i) products under our
own brand name, PTi; (i) products of other brands; and
(i) thermal imaging inspection services. Our products
are widely used in general consumption, commercial
and industrial fields.

Revenue for provision of thermal imaging products and
services showed a slight decline by 2.6% on a year-to-
year basis due to decrease in demand from our
customers for nano-positioning systems.

Throughout the years, the Group had provided
advanced products, mainly for the provision of the
infrared body temperature screening systems at
various border control points in Hong Kong, including
Hong Kong International Airport, Lo Wu Immigration
Control Point, Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge, West
Kowloon Terminal Building, etc.

The Group will endeavor to provide quality products
and services with a primary focus on the products
specified for use in detect heat abnormalities in
electricity substation and overhead powerlines, infrared
body temperature screening systems and surveillance
systems.

Revenue from this segment during the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$156.6 million
(2018: HK$160.7 million). It accounted for
approximately 56.8% (2018: 61.3%) of the Group's
revenue during the year ended 31 December 2019.

EBEOERRE (&)

ATRAEE TR BREHE

(1)

HERKGERKRHRE

BMEZD BHNERNMREARA D B
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L& F% 2.6% ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BERBNWmRTN (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

(2) Sale of self-stabilised imaging products and
provision of services

The products in this segment are designed to be
mounted on moving platforms such as aircraft,
helicopters, vessels and ships. The Group deploys a
self-stabilisation technology whereby the imaging
products are mounted on a multiple-axis gimbal
structure and achieve maximum stabilisation. The
products are traded under own brand name, SkyEye,
SeaVision and PGs. We also rent our self-stabilised
imaging products for aircraft to our customers for a
fixed period at a rental fee.

Affected by the economic condition, revenue of this
segment declined by 20.5% on a year-to-year basis, as
a result of reduction in demand for self-stabilised
imaging products and rendering of maintenance
services and equipment rental to the state-owned
electric power grid companies. However, the Group
has been working towards expanding the product
portfolio of this segment. With the new research and
development centre in Hong Kong, we expect that the
Group will be able to further enriching its product line
for self-stabilised imaging products and gain larger
market share with rising utilisation for this segment.

Revenue from this segment during the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$34.6 million
(2018: HK$43.5 million). It accounted for approximately
12.6% (2018: 16.6%) of the Group’s revenue during
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEBNWmRDN (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

(3) Sale of general aviation products and provision
of services

The services and products in this segment can be
broadly divided into three categories, namely (i) light
and ultra-light aircraft engines and related components
distribution; (i) maintenance training courses; and (iii)
maintenance and support services. Our maintenance
training courses and maintenance and support services
are mainly carried out in our maintenance centre with a
gross floor area of approximately 1,200 sg.m. which is
located in Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province. Our
customers in this segment include light and ultra-light
aircraft manufacturers, flight schools, flying
entertainment clubs, light aircraft research institutions
and private flight owners.

In 2019, the total general aviation flight time in the PRC
was 1.125 million hours, representing an increase of
13.8% on a year-to-year basis. And according to
“Report on the Work of the Government 2019” made
by Chinese Premier Li Kegiang, the PRC would boost
infrastructure investment for intercity transportation,
logistics, utilities, disaster prevention and mitigation,
and civil and general aviation. During the year, the
Group had continued to offer comprehensive one-stop
general aviation agency services to our customers. The
Group believes that there is enormous potential for our
products to infuse into the market and would continue
to focus on the development of the general aviation
value chain in the PRC.

Revenue from this segment during the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$84.2 million
(2018: HK$57.9 million). It accounted for approximately
30.6% (2018: 22.1%) of the Group's revenue during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

EBEOERRE (&)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEBNWmE TN (&

PROSPECT

Taking into account the macro economic environment that
has become more challenging, the Group expects global
trade conflicts and the spread of COVID-19 would continue
to have a material impact on the Group's operating
environment and the demand of our products. The
management would continue to oversee the effects and
accommodate the disruptions ahead.

The Group has long been focusing on the research and
development in order to maintain its competitive edges. We
believe that the new research and development centres in
the PRC and Hong Kong would enable us to keep pace with
the latest technologies and development of new products
and services, which brings extra value to our customers and
may eventually expand the Group’s market share.

In addition, our thermal imaging products, which could be
installed in the infrared body temperature screening
systems, could provide the first line of defense for the
infection prevention and epidemic control. We believe that
with the outbreak of the COVID-19, the demand could
remain high with the step-up of detection measures in
border control points.

In view of the outbreak of COVID-19, we are currently taking
necessary precautions to safeguard our employees and we
still remain positive about the Group’s prospects amidst the
volatile economic environment. Due to the dynamic nature
of these circumstances, our Group will continue to monitor
and evaluate the impact of COVID-19. In addition, we believe
that we could capture many opportunities in the general
aviation market, especially the supportive government
policies enacted in the PRC. The Group is well positioned to
seize these opportunities to create value to the shareholders
of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEBNWmRDN (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group was derived from business
consisting of: (i) thermal imaging products and services; (ii)
self-stabilised imaging products and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the total revenue of the Group increased
by approximately HK$13.3 million, or 5.1% from
approximately HK$262.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HK$275.4 million. The
increase was primarily attributable to the following reasons:

(i) Thermal imaging products and services

Revenue derived from thermal imaging products and
services decreased by approximately HK$4.1 million, or
2.6%, from approximately HK$160.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HK$156.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease was primarily attributable to the
decrease in sales of nano-positioning systems, which
was mainly attributable to the decrease in demand
from our existing customers.

(ii) Self-stabilised imaging products and services

Revenue derived from self-stabilised imaging products
and services decreased by approximately HK$8.9
million, or 20.5%, from approximately HK$43.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HK$34.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease
in sales of our self-stabilised imaging products for
aircraft as a result of the decrease in demand for self-
stabilised imaging products for aircraft from a state-
owned electric power grid company; and (ii) the
decrease in revenue from rendering of maintenance
services and equipment rental to a state-owned electric
power grid company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN®R DN (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) General aviation products and services

Revenue derived from general aviation products and
services increased by approximately HK$26.3 million,
or 45.4%, from approximately HK$57.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HK$84.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The increase was mainly attributable to our new
customers in the general aviation industry and the
increase in demand from our existing customers as a
result of an increase in market demand for light and
ultra-light aircraft engine.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the Group decreased from approximately
HK$94.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$93.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, and the gross profit margin decreased by
approximately 2.1% from approximately 35.9% for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately 33.8% for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

(i)

(ii)

Gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services

The gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services remained relatively stable at approximately
30.6% and 30.1% for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2019, respectively.

Gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services

The gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services decreased by approximately
3.0% from approximately 56.3% for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately 53.3% for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in our gross
profit margin was primarily attributable to the decrease
in rendering of maintenance services and equipment
rental, which had a relatively higher gross profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin (Continued)

(iii) Gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services

The gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services decreased by approximately 2.4% from
approximately 35.2% for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately 32.8% for the year ended 31
December 2019. The decrease in our gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to decrease in
average selling price of certain series of 4-stroke engine
products, which was mainly attributable to the provision
of discount to our existing customers as a result of
their bulk purchases.

Other Income and Gains, Net

The Group’s other income and gains increased by
approximately HK$0.5 million, or 27.8%, from approximately
HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$2.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in bank interest income of approximately HK$0.6
million and the recognition of recovery of written-off trade
receivables of approximately HK$1.4 million. The effect was
partially offset by a decrease in reversal of doubtful
receivables, net of approximately HK$1.5 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$4.5 million, or 18.5%, from approximately
HK$24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$28.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in staff costs of our sales and marketing personnel
resulting from the increase in sales commission along with
the increase in our overall revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BERBNWmRTN (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Administrative Expenses

The Group’'s administrative expenses decreased by
approximately HK$16.2 million, or by 36.7%, from
approximately HK$44.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HK$27.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily
attributable to the listing expenses of approximately
HK$21.8 million incurred during the year ended 31
December 2018 and were non-recurring in nature. The
effect was partially offset by the depreciation of right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$5.3 million during the year
ended 31 December 2019 as a result of the adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 16
Leases issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") from 1 January 2019. Details of
HKFRS 16 are set out in the section headed “Notes to
Financial Statements” in this Annual Report.

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses decreased by approximately
HK$5.7 million, or 75.0%, from approximately HK$7.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
decrease in other expenses was primarily attributable to the
decrease in foreign exchange loss.

Finance Costs

According to the adoption of the HKFRS 16 Leases, at the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee is required to
recognise a liability of lease payment (i.e. the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). As a
result, finance costs of approximately HK$0.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 were recognised.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Income Tax Expense

The Group’'s income tax expense decreased by
approximately HK$2.3 million, or 27.7%, from approximately
HK$8.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HK$6.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, which was primarily resulting from a
decrease in taxable profits during the year ended 31
December 2019. The Group's effective tax rates decreased
from approximately 41.7% for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately 16.5% for the year ended 31
December 2019, which was primarily attributable to the
absence of non-deductible listing expenses recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the
Group's profit for the year attributable to the owners of the
parent increased by approximately HK$18.8 million, or
163.5%, from approximately HK$11.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately HK$30.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources. As at 31 December 2019, the Group reported net
current assets of approximately HK$302.5 million, as
compared with approximately HK$172.6 million as at 31
December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and bank
balances was approximately HK$177.1 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$124.2 million as compared
to HK$52.9 million as at 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BERBNWmRTN (&)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the net cash
generated from operating activities was approximately
HK$33.6 million (2018: HK$4.5 million). The cash generated
from operating activities was mainly from the profits during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The net cash used in
investing activities was approximately HK$3.3 million (2018:
net cash generated from investing activities of approximately
HK$46.9 million). The net cash generated from financing
activities was approximately HK$94.6 million (2018: net cash
used in financing activities was approximately HK$37.3
million).

The net cash used in investing activities was mainly
attributable to the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets during the year. The net
cash generated from financing activities was mainly arising
from the net proceeds from the Listing.

AWARDS

Guangzhou Peiport Sijing Optoelectronics System Limited
was awarded the “2019 Power Technology Innovation
Award (the First Prize)” by the China Electricity Council

Guangzhou Peiport Sijing Optoelectronics System Limited
was awarded the “China Electric Power Science and
Technology Award (the Second Prize)” by the Chinese
Society of Electrical Engineering and the China Electrical
Science Incentive Office, jointly

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2018: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant
capital commitments (31 December 2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENwmkD T (&)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Functional currency of the Group’s operating subsidiaries is
either Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi, while some of the
Group’s business transactions and cost of sales are
denominated in United States dollar and Euro.

The Group has transactional currency exposures and such
exposures arise from sales or purchases made by
subsidiaries in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. The Group's foreign currency exposure
also comprises assets and liabilities denominated in United
States dollar. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not pledge any
assets (31 December 2018: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, since we did not have any bank
borrowings, gearing ratio was not applicable to our Group.
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Management Discussion and
EEEN®R DN (&)

USE OF PROCEEDS

The final offer price for the Listing was HK$1.25 per share,
and the actual net proceeds from the Listing were
approximately HK$81.2 million (after deduction of the listing
expenses). As at the date of this Annual Report, the net
proceeds from the Listing were utilised as follows:

Analysis (Continued)

FRERIEAR

ETHRREEEETR1.258T 0 MER L
MRS FEREN A8 2B BB T (KK £
MHAX)  WRAFEREBH - EWATERE
FEMERABRAT

Amount Amount
utilised as at unutilised as at
the date of the date of
Actual this Annual this Annual
net proceeds Report Report
REFE REFE
BRFE BEQH BEAH
IEFE EEASE KERASHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Establish new research and ERENEBER
development centres in the PRC A3 )
and Hong Kong 39,600 (1,167) 38,433
Enhance the recognition and ReEBEMEROR
qualification of our products HMERER 17,300 (3,155) 14,145
Strengthen our sales capacity and ZESHEE S KITLIE
capture new sales opportunities 75 &S #iB 21,100 (5,433) 15,667
Purchase new information BEINAMBISEYS
technology hardware Nt
and software 2,500 (2,173) 327
Working capital LEED 700 (700) -
81,200 (12,628) 68,5672

The Company has not fully utilised the net proceeds from
the Listing. As at the date of this Annual Report, the amount
unutilised from the Listing was approximately HK$68.6
million and there has been no change to the intended use of
proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus. In view
of the slowdown in growth of the global economy for the
year 2019, the Company has been taking a more prudent
approach in the utilisation of proceeds for establishing new
research and development centres in the PRC and Hong
Kong and enhancing the recognition and qualification of our
products. The Company intends to continue to apply the net
proceeds according to the plan set out in the Prospectus.
Going forward in 2020, the Directors will monitor the
outbreak of COVID-19 and its impact to the global economy
to evaluate our business objective and to apply unutilised
proceeds from the Listing according to the changing market
condition to create greater value for the shareholders. The
unutilised proceeds have been placed in a licensed bank in
Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEENWED T (&)

RESTRUCTURING AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did
not have any restructuring and significant investments.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
underwent corporate restructuring prior to the Listing.
Please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus for further
details on the restructuring and relevant significant
investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 145 (31 December 2018: 140)
employees as at 31 December 2019. Total staff costs of the
Group (excluding the Directors’ and chief executive's
remuneration) for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$35.2 million (2018: HK$29.5 million). The
Group’s remuneration policies were in line with relevant
legislation, market conditions and the performance of our
employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 5 June 2020 to Friday, 12 June 2020, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of shares shall be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
annual general meeting (the “AGM”) to be held on Friday,
12 June 2020, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be
lodged for registration with the Hong Kong share registrar of
the Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday,
4 June 2020.
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Directors And Senior Management

EERSAREERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (# &%), aged 71, is the founder of
our Group. Mr. Yeung is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director
on 19 December 2017. He is in charge of the strategic
direction and development strategy of our Group. Mr. Yeung
is also a director of a number of our subsidiaries and the
member of the Company’s remuneration committee.

Mr. Yeung has over 20 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. He obtained
his bachelor's degree in aeronautical engineering from
Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (F R
ZEHMAKE) (formerly known as Nanjing College of
Aeronautics (F R ZEE6T)) in June 1982. Mr. Yeung started
his career in the industry working as a designer of aircraft
machinery at the Aviation Department Aircraft Design
Institute* (FF B ZE THB R RFE/S——HFLFA, also known
as PO)I1AX&F611FT) from February 1982 to May 1985 where
he was mainly responsible for design of aircraft machinery.
He joined Schmidt & Co., (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company
focusing on system integration, in May 1986 and was
promoted to the role of product manager in January 1993
responsible for business development. He then founded our
Group in April 1998 and has served as managing director of
our Group since then.

Mr. Yeung served as the general manager (H &2 E) of
Infrared Analysis Society of China* (B4 D HTES) in
1989. In 2004, he was appointed as the Economic
Development Consultant of Meijiang District, Meizhou* (&
MHHTREE T SRR by the Meizhou Meijian
Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’s Government* (%
wNmHEIRZEERMNMEIRARKM). He was
awarded the title of the 20th Anniversary of Meijiang District
Outstanding Contributor* (#/T[RZEE205BF = L ERE) by
the Meizhou Meijian Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’s
Government* (R HMGMTHHIRZ S SHMNHIEIEARIK
fF) in 2008. Besides, Mr. Yeung was appointed as the
Honorary Vice-chairman of Fifth Executive Committee of
Guangzhou Land, Marine and Aero Modelling Association*
(BMNMEEEREEHHREF L EESTSLEIEF) in
2011.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEkSREERE (&)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yeung has obtained various qualifications, including (i)
the Service and Maintenance Course for Ultralight Aircraft
Engines ROTAX 582-618-912 Diploma from ROTAX in
March 1993; (ii) the Thermovision 500 Operator Training
Course awarded by Agema Infrared Systems in October
1997; (iii) The American Society for Nondestructive Testing
Level Il Certificate Program in October 1999; and (iv) the
Thermal Imaging Fundamentals Certificate awarded by FLIR
Infrared Training Centre in June 2007. Mr. Yeung further
completed the Advanced CEO Program* (b2 42 (CEO)S
HAHMEL) at Tsinghua University in May 2010.

Mr. Yeung is the spouse of Ms. WONG Kwan Lik and the
father of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (E#f ), aged 63, is the chief executive
officer and an executive Director. Ms. Wong was appointed
as a Director on 19 December 2017. She joined our Group in
April 1998 and has since then taken an active part in the
sales and operation of our Group. Ms. Wong is also a
director of a number of our subsidiaries and the member of
the Company’s nomination committee.

Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From February
1982 to May 1986, Ms. Wong worked on aviation machinery
research at the Aviation Department Aircraft Design
Institute* (P EIMZE T B AR EHE/N— LA, also known
as PUJI1EX#B611F7). Ms. Wong has been serving as the sales
manager of Peiport Scientific Limited (“Peiport Scientific”)
and Peiport Scientific Aero Limited (”Peiport Aero”) from
April 1998 to June 2018 and from July 2018 to March 2019,
respectively. Since 1 April 2019, she has been promoted to
the managing director of Peiport Aero and is responsible for
planning and coordination of sales and operations of our
Group.

Ms. Wong obtained a bachelor's degree in aeronautical
engineering from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics (FA =M Z=ERIAKE) (formerly known as Nanjing
College of Aeronautics (F R ZEEET)) in June 1982.

Ms. Wong is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and the
mother of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai (#%#&28), aged 32, is an executive
Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director on 22
August 2018. Mr. Yeung joined our Group in February 2016
and has since then taken part in the management of
operation and supplier relationship of our Group.

Mr. Yeung has over 3 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From April
2013 till February 2014, Mr. Yeung worked as an associate
in the ICT hardware department under the Bell Professional
Management Program of Bell Canada, and was responsible
for building and maintaining the office’'s computers and
facilities. He was promoted to the position of technical
analyst in October 2013 and was responsible for managing
the daily work of the ICT hardware department. From
August 2014 to March 2015, Mr. Yeung joined Bell Business
Market of Bell Canada and worked as a technical analyst,
responsible for building, testing and deploying Cisco
telephone scripts for customers. Mr. Yeung has been
working as the marketing manager of Peiport Scientific and
Peiport Aero from February 2016 to June 2018 and from
July 2018 to March 2019, respectively. Since 1 April 2019,
he has been promoted to the business development director
of Peiport Aero and is mainly responsible for managing the
daily operations of our Group.

Mr. Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
McMaster University in Canada in June 2010, majoring in
computer engineering. He further obtained a master’s
degree in engineering from McMaster University in June
2013, majoring in electrical and computer engineering.

Mr. Yeung is the son of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and Ms.
WONG Kwan Lik.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie (4$£5%), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Niu is also the chairman of the
Company’s nomination committee and the member of the
audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Niu has worked with various financial institutions and
has extensive experience in equity capital markets. He
served as a director of Vision Finance Asset Management
Limited from February 2008 to January 2015. He has been
the director of Vision Finance International Company Limited
since September 2007 to present, and has also been the
responsible officer of the company to carry on type 1
(dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities since November 2007.
Furthermore, he has been the responsible officer for type 4
(advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities of Vision Finance Asset Management
Limited since December 2008 and July 2010, respectively.

He has served as an independent non-executive director of
Nanjing Sample Technology Company Ltd. (stock code:
1708) since 27 May 2019. Mr. Niu previously served as an
independent non-executive director of Gold-Finance
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1462), from 3 February 2016
to 15 May 2019. He also previously served as an executive
director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry Group
Limited (stock code: 1803), from 23 April 2015 to 7
November 2018.

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen ($5#3K), aged 44, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 December
2018. She is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. Ms. Yeung is also the
chairwoman of the Company’s audit committee and the
member of the nomination committee.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Yeung has over 20 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Yeung worked in
various companies being responsible in the finance and
accounting aspects, among which she served as (i) a staff
accountant in the audit department of Ernst & Young in
Hong Kong from September 1997 to March 1999; (ii) an
accounting officer of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd
from September 1999 to 2002; (iii) an accountant of Bruker
Optics Inc. from January 2006 to February 2007; and (iv) the
accounting manager and financial controller of PCC Asia LCC
since April 2007 to June 2019 and from July 2019 to March
2020, respectively.

Ms. Yeung was awarded the Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree
in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1997. Ms. Yeung was admitted in January 2007 as a
member of the HKICPA. She is currently a Certified Public
Accountant registered with the HKICPA. She has been a
member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since May 2006.

Mr. HOU Min ({&&), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Hou is also the chairman of the
company’s remuneration committee and the member of the
audit committee.

Mr. Hou has over 20 years of experience in the aviation
industry. From 1980 to 1994, Mr. Hou served in the PRC
military. Mr. Hou served as an officer at the Anti-Smuggling
Bureau of the Beijing Customs Office between September
1994 and March 2002. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Hou was
employed by Sino Television Co. Ltd (f#ME1R AR A7) as
a pilot for aerial photography. From May 2012 to December
2013, Mr. Hou worked at Anhui Dinghong General Aviation
Company Limited* (B IERBAMZEBR AR (previously
known as the Anhui Dinghong General Aviation Company
Limited* (ZHR = BAMERRAF), with his last position
being the general manager responsible for daily operations.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

From February 2015 to August 2017, Mr. Hou was the
general manager of Hunan Sunward General Aviation
Company Limited* (S LA ZEPiBM AR 2 7)) responsible
for the daily operations of the company. From December
2017 to the present, Mr. Hou has been the legal
representative and general manager of Guizhou Huang Ping
Qie Lan General Aviation Company Limited* (EM =¥ 25
BAMZEER AR responsible for the overall operation and
management.

Mr. Hou completed the fighter pilot diploma at the PRC
People’'s Liberation Army Air Force Fourth Aviation School*
(PREARBMNEZEFOMZEZER) in December 1982. He
further obtained a bachelor’s degree in military science from
the Army Staff College* (FEEZ2REE7) in the PRC in July
1994,

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. SZE So Fan (£ #tl), aged 50, is the deputy chief
executive officer of our Group. Ms. Sze joined our Group in
May 1999 and is responsible for overall administration and
human resources management of our Group.

Ms. Sze has over 20 years of experience in the marketing
field. Between March 1998 to April 1999, Ms. Sze worked
as a marketing executive in TFH Technology Co., Ltd., a
company which engages in the trading of engineering
equipment and she was mainly responsible for assisting the
sales and marketing manager for formulation and
implementation of sales and marketing strategy.

Ms. Sze graduated from Minzu University of China (7R Kk
EFr) in June 1991 with a bachelor’s degree in physics.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. KWAN Leung Yu (B8=F), aged 43, is the technology
director of our Group and is responsible for the overall
technical products and supplier relationship management of
our Group. Mr. Kwan has over 20 years of experience in the
engineering field. Mr. Kwan joined our Group in September
1999 as a sales engineer and was promoted to assistant
general manager in April 2004 where he was mainly
responsible for design, tailoring and preparation of technical
proposals of thermal imaging products and services and self-
stabilised imaging related products and services for our
customers. Mr. Kwan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in December
1998.

Mr. XIA Xiaoming (E#BR), aged 60, is the chief engineer
of our Group. Mr. Xia joined our Group in 2002 and is
responsible for research and development of the products of
our Group. Mr. Xia has over 18 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From January
1989 to March 1993, Mr. Xia worked as a teacher in Nanjing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (R A ZE MR A
E) (formerly known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics (&
FZERE)). From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Xia worked as
technical manager in Shenzhen Transportation Machinery
and Electronics Company* (FIII3ZE#AR E T2 7)) and was
responsible for research and development of mechanical
products.

Mr. Xia obtained a master’'s degree in engineering, and
doctor's degree in engineering, from Nanjing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics (Fd R=MZEMAKE) (formerly
known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics (Fd R ZEAZ))
in December 1984 and May 1989, respectively. He further
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
Duquesne University in the United States in December
1997.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching (R&#2), aged 33, is the company
secretary and financial controller of our Group. Ms. Leung
joined our Group in December 2017 and is primarily
responsible for the secretarial, compliance work and overall
financial and accounting operations of our Group.

Ms. Leung has over 10 years of experience in finance and
accounting. She obtained the bachelor degree of business
administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in July 2009. She is admitted as a certified public
accountant of the HKICPA in July 20183.

Note: If there is any inconsistency between the official Chinese name of the PRC
laws or regulations or the PRC Government authorities or the PRC entities and
their English translation, the Chinese version shall prevail. English translations
of official Chinese names are for identification purposes only and are marked
with “*".
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Corporate Governance Report

G EEARE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company (the “Corporate Governance Report”)
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

Since the Listing Date, the Company has adopted the
principles and the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
all the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code
throughout year ended 31 December 2019.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set forth in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings by
Directors in the securities of the Company and other matters
covered by the Model Code. Specific enquiry has been
made to all Directors and they have confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code throughout the year
under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Senior
Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the
Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s businesses and is
responsible for overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance and marketing.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the
date of this Corporate Governance Report, the composition
of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NIU Zhongjie

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERHE (F)

BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 24 to 31 of this Annual Report. The relationships
between the members of the Board are also disclosed under
the same section.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (“Mr. YEUNG"), being the chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”), provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of
the Board. Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (“Ms. WONG"), being the
chief executive officer, focuses on the Company’s business
development and the daily management and operations. The
segregation of roles of the Chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company aligns with the requirement pursuant
to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the CG Code, it stipulates that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election and all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment. The Company has
complied with the requirements of the CG Code that all
Directors are appointed for a term of three years. Such
appointment may be terminated earlier by either party giving
to the other not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association (the
"Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least one every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai and Mr. HOU Min, will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM of the Company and, being
eligible, offers themselves for re-election.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing more
than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation in
respect of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of three years unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by each independent non-
executive Director concerned or our Company expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the audit committee (the "Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees are provided
sufficient resources to perform its duties and, if necessary,
to seek independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company to fulfill their responsibilities. They are also
required to report to the Board after each meeting on their
decisions or recommendations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since 18
December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. NIU
Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and Mr. HOU Min. Ms.
YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen is the chairwoman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) review the
financial statements; (iii) provide material advice in respect
of our financial reporting process; (iv) oversee our internal
control and risk management systems and audit process;
and (v) provide advice and comment to our Board on matters
related to corporate governance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held
four meetings and has performed the following works:

— recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor and the remuneration;

— considered and reviewed the scope of audit work and
monitored its independence;

— reviewed the unaudited accounts, interim results for
the six-month ended 30 June 2019 and annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2018;

— reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the
Group; and

— reviewed the effectiveness of the financial reporting
system, internal control and risk management systems
and internal audit function of the Group.

In addition, according to our terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee also held a meeting with
our external auditor in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
18 December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. HOU Min
and Mr. NIU Zhongjie and one executive Director, namely
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching. Mr. HOU Min is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to (i)
review and make recommendations to our Board on the
terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to Directors and senior management
of the Company; (i) assessing performance of Directors; and
(i) approving the terms of the Directors’ service contracts.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company and
made recommendations to the Board on their specific
packages; and

— reviewed the fees of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) EEXEE (E) (&)

Remuneration Committee (Continued) FMEES (&)

Pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the #RELESFAISFANEXEBILE HE-Z

remuneration of the senior management by band for the —hAF+-_BA=+—HBLIFERELHIH NS

year ended 31 December 2019 was set out below: BEBEHHAOT

Within the band of AR FR Number of individuals
AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7% 7T 2

Nomination Committee REZEE®

The Nomination Committee has been established since 18 ARG EEZZT—NF+_A+\BEKILE

December 2018 with written terms of reference in H®ZE® - WER WA UAEHD

compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. NIU Zhongjie and Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu
Helen and one executive Director, namely Ms. WONG Kwan
Lik. Mr. NIU Zhongjie is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition of our Board; (ii)
identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members; (iii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (iv) review and make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of directors and the management of the Board
succession.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for directors;

— set up the nomination policy of the Company (the
“Nomination Policy”) and reviewed its implementation;

— identified individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

— assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and

— reviewed the Board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and its implementation.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects set out
in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a
director of the Company, the Nomination Committee would
consider the above criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement board diversity and review such objectives from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review and monitor the
effectiveness of the board diversity of the Board.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board's
composition under diversified perspectives was summarised
as follows:

Educational Background
HEER

Undergraduate

ExecuEive
BT

Designatiop
212

Gender

el

Age group
FcAa R

Length of service

Less than b years
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AR ERBR T

Postgraduate

i

Independent Non-executive

B IETT

Female

pogid

__ RS

Over 10 years
#BiB10F
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

NOMINATION POLICY

The Group adopted the Nomination Policy on 22 February
2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Objectives

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. This Policy
provides the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such
recommendations.

Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment
of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider a variety of factors including
without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of
the proposed candidate:

(1) Reputation for integrity;

(2)  Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
business and other relevant sectors relate to the
Company and/or its subsidiaries;

(3) Commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention
to the Company's business;

(4) Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and experience;

(5)  The ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
success;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

oo

aHE (&)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)

Selection Criteria (Continued)

(6)

Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive Director;
and

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to
time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.

Nomination Procedures

In general, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility
for all matters relating to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors.

(1)

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall
convene a meeting and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members (if any), for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee may also nominate candidates
for its consideration.

In the context of appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall undertake adequate due diligence in respect of
such individual and make recommendations for the
Board's consideration and approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)
Review and Monitoring of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 22 February 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed
as below.

The Group is committed to maintaining sufficient resources
and flexibility to meet the Group’s financial and operational
requirements. At the same time, the Company continually
seeks ways to enhance shareholders’ value to ensure
sustainable long-term vyields for shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company gives priority to
distributing dividend in cash and shares its profits with its
shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Group’s
financial results, future prospects and other factors, and
subject to:

(1) the Articles of Association;

(2) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the
laws of the Cayman Islands;

(3) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(4) the investment and operating requirements of the
Group; and

(5) any other factors that have material impact on the
Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

The Board may consider distributing special dividend to all
shareholders, and the amount of which shall be determined
and approved by the Board at its absolute discretion.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles
of Association, all of our shareholders have equal entitlement
to dividends and distributions. The Board shall have the right
to review the Dividend Policy from time to time as it deems
fit according to the financial and business development
requirements of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’'s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communications.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Notice of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days in advance while reasonable notice is given
for other Board meetings. Agenda and accompanying Board
papers are sent, in full, to all Directors at least 3 days before
the intended date of the regular Board meetings and Board
committees meetings to enable all Directors to make
informed decisions.

Minutes of regular Board meetings and Board committees
meetings are drafted by the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”) in sufficient detail the
matters considered and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the meetings are sent to all Board
members and Board committee members for their comment
and records, within a reasonable time after the meetings.
Full minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice
by any Director.

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and the Board Committees, and the
AGM during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ BIEERE
Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Name of Directors EENA Board Committee =~ Committee  Committee AGM

Exe ENZEE §MEEE REZEE RRAFAS
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching oAb 444 - n - n
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik T#ENzL 444 - - n n
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BREEE 444 = = - 1M
Independent Non-Executive B v &7 E%

Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie HEELE 444 4/4 n n n
Ms. YEUNG HiuFu Helen  IBBEEL+ 4/4 4/4 - 17 i
Mr. HOU Min RREE 4/4 4/4 17 - i
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EERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the chairman has
also met once with all independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors, to discuss various
matters in respect of corporate governance of the Company.

In addition, according to the terms of reference of Audit
Committee, the members of the Audit Committee have met
with the auditors in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, all Directors, namely
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching, Ms. WONG Kwan Lik, Mr. YEUNG
Chun Tai, Mr. NIU Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and
Mr. HOU Min have confirmed that they had complied with
code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code and details are set out
below:

EENHEERERE (BA)

HE_Z-NFT+A=+T—HLFE 28
EERREGRELEE  TRAIRE  BEEE
£ AEERE  BERALTARKERELRE
RWEFLETRETRITRANRXEA 6.5
BT

Types of Trainings

Directors = (See Remarks)
IR
(REE##)

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching T imia s & A B

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik FEHLZ L A B

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BRI E A B

Independent Non-Executive BVIHEHITESE

Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie GEEEE A B

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen BEERZ+ A B

Mr. HOU Min EIRSLE A B

Remarks: AL

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums A HEMSE R heE R LRE

B: reading journals, updates, articles and/or materials, etc. B: THEST - B3 XERAMEE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required in accordance with the
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements (Continued)

In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, the accounts is prepared on a going concern
basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is included in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 75 to 82 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY AND
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor. Details of
the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided by Ernst & Young for the year ended 31
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December 2019 are set out in the table below: FERNEANGFBEENTE
Fee paid/
Services Rendered 2R RS payable
21,/
ESEA
HK$'000
FET
Audit services: FiTIRT -
— Annual audit and related services — FEE RAERE 1,300
Non-audit services: TR -
— Agreed-upon procedures with respect to — BT HRENHBERRF
interim report and other professional N E A HZ AR
services 300
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for
overseeing the Group’'s risk management and internal
control systems on an on-going basis and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually in order to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee to review
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls of the Group. Based on its review, the Audit
Committee advises the Board on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems,
including the identification and monitoring of the risks, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting functions. The management has also
been delegated to design, implement and maintain the
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERHE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

Risk management is curial to promote good corporate
governance. Our risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk control and review. The
management is entrusted with duties to identify, evaluate,
respond, monitor and communicate risks to the head of the
respective business units or department to enforce the
remediation. Risks are assessed by our management and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board based on (i)
the probability that the risk will occur; and (ii) the severity of
the impact on the Group. According to the likelihood of
occurrence and the impact of the risk, our Group implement
the risk management strategies by avoiding the risk, sharing
or transferring the risk, mitigating the risk, and accepting the
risk.

To further strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company appointed external
advisers to undertake the internal audit function and perform
an annual review of the internal control systems of the
Group. The external advisers evaluate the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems by reviewing the
material controls, including financial, operation and
compliance. The rotation basis would be applied to
operations with similar risk associated so as to enhance the
efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit function.
Review results and the recommendations in the form of
written report are submitted to the Audit Committee for
discussion and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by
the management of the Group to ensure all significant
control activities are properly in place within the Group and
findings previously identified have been properly resolved.

The Company has conducted annual review on the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Groups risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2019 and the management has confirmed that
there is no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system has been identified by the external
advisers. During the year under review, both the Board and
the Audit Committee satisfied and confirmed that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling
the dissemination of inside information, the Group has
adopted a policy on the disclosure of inside information (the
“Inside Information Policy”) in order to comply with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing
Rules. According to the Inside information Policy, the
Company has taken appropriate measures to identify inside
information and preserve its confidentiality until proper
dissemination via the electronic publication system operated
by the Stock Exchange. Senior management of the Group
must take all reasonable measures to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent the leakage of inside information
of the Company from time to time. They must also promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside
information to the attention of the Board accordingly for
taking the appropriate action promptly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching, who is
also the financial controller of the Group, is a full-time
employee of the Company. Her biography is set out on page
31 of this Annual Report in the section of “Directors and
Senior Management”.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Ms. LEUNG Chin
Ching has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EERHRE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may whenever it thinks fit call EGM. EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary of the Company, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at Unit 316, 3/F., Lakeside 1,
Phase Two, Hong Kong Science Park, Pak Shek Kok, New
Territories, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and
the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general
meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put forward enquiries to the
Board at general meeting or send written enquiries to the
Company for the attention of the Company Secretary at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
316, 3/F., Lakeside 1, Phase Two, Hong Kong Science Park,
Pak Shek Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’
communication policy on 18 December 2018. Such policy is
monitored and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company considers that
effective communication with shareholders is essential for
enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other
general meetings. At the forthcoming AGM, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at “www.peiport.com”. Through its
website, the Company provides shareholders with corporate
information, corporate governance practice, interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and etc. The
Company will also update the website information from time
to time to inform the shareholders and investors of the
latest development of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no significant change
in the Company’s constitution documents. An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019.

CHANGE OF HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Pursuant to a Board resolution passed on 29 November
2019, the headquarters and principal place of business in
Hong Kong of the Company was changed to Unit 316, 3/F.,
Lakeside 1, Phase 2, Hong Kong Science Park, Pak Shek
Kok, New Territories, Hong Kong with effect from 18
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision of (i)
thermal imaging products and services; (ii) self-stabilised
imaging products and services; and (iii) general aviation
products and services. An analysis of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this Annual Report.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s businesses and other relevant information,
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
set out on pages 6 to 9 and pages 10 to 23 of this Annual
Report, respectively. Such discussion forms part of this
"Report of the Directors”.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and the key relationships with the Company's
key stakeholders which have a significant impact on the
Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability
of the environment and is committed to becoming an
environmentally friendly corporation. Details of our
environmental, social and governance policies and
performance during the year ended 31 December 2019 shall
be disclosed in a standalone "“Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” to be published within three months
after the publication of this Annual Report on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2019
are set out in the financial statements on pages 83 to 85.
The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited results and the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements, is set out on page 2 of this Annual
Report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
1 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in note 13 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in “Share Option Scheme” as set out in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note
25 to the financial statements and the consolidated
statements of changes in equity. The distributable reserve
of the Company as at 31 December 2019 was
HK$78,456,000.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, sales to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 50.6% of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 20.8%.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 87.3% of
the total purchases for the year and purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 54.0%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min

The Company has received written annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has duly reviewed the independence
of each of these directors. The Company considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” on pages 24 to 31 of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
with our Company for a term of three years and are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
The term of the service contracts may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable rules of the Listing Rules.

Save as discussed above, none of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not terminable by employing company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and chief
executive and the five highest paid employees of the Group
are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements of
this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices. The Company has maintained appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to provide
appropriate coverage for the Directors and other officers of
the Group throughout the year and are currently in force.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport Alpha Ltd. (“Peiport
Alpha”), each being the controlling shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder(s)”), have entered into a deed of
non-competition dated 18 December 2018 (in favour of the
Company (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). Details of the
Deed of Non-Competition was set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company has received confirmations from
Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport Alpha of their
compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.
Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport Alpha declared that
they have fully complied with the Deed of Non-Competition
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that up to the date of this
Annual Report, all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition have been complied with by Mr. YEUNG, Ms.
WONG and Peiport Alpha.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the following Directors
and chief executive of the Company had or were deemed to
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code:

Ordinary Shares of the Company:

Number of ordinary

EERTRARRKRSG  HEROR
EEETNERERAR

RAFREREBH - THRRRESERITHA
BRARBHEEAREEE(EEREFFR
HAE RGBSR XV E#B) 2 B fn ~ MR KB E
FRA KR BER () RIBES RARGE
XVEBE 7 M8 D BPAME ANR R R B A 2 4
S IRR (BREFRIEZEZ RAE RO 2%
FREREFIRREE IR IAR) + K
(i) iR IZ7E 75 e BB A5 1) 58 362 R /B RE 8RO A% 16k
PiFfrte B 2 EESORR ¢ (i) RIBF
ETHANEARRR R PT 2 am R R

RRFRzEBRERG

Approximate

Capacity/ shares and percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
EERNEE
Exps B REEME K &5 EHR BFREBAE D (%)
Mr. YEUNG Interest of a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%?
corporation
Bkt RS EE S 300,000,000 A& A& £ (L)@
Ms. WONG Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%?
T+ FoiBiE s 300,000,000 A& A& £ (L)
Notes: BiE
1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares of the 1. TR L] BZATRARBRD (TARHD ) BiFE -

Company (the “Share(s)").

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue
after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 756% by Peiport Alpha. The entire
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 70% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our
Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Ordinary Shares of an Associated Corporation —
Peiport Alpha:

Number of ordinary

EERTRARRKRG  HEROR
EEETNEERAR (&)

M EE — REMBEEZZEBRERMD

Approximate

Capacity/ shares and percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
EBERNHE
BExps 5% RENtE K58 EREAE D (%)
Mr. YEUNG Beneficial owner 10 Shares (L) 100%?
1Bkt ERERA 10 ezt (L
Ms. WONG Interest of spouse 10 Shares (L) 100%?
Tzt Ao (B = 10 A& A& 17 (L)
Notes: Bt 5

1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 10 shares of Peiport Alpha in
issue.

3. The entire issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 7 shares and 3
shares by Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG respectively. Since Ms. WONG is the
spouse of Mr. YEUNG, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested
in the entire issued share capital of Peiport Alpha and the Shares held by
Peiport Alpha.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFQO), or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

1. FEIL EZATRBRO R

2. AR BREMEED HITRDEBI0MRGE -

3. FEMBENZ2FCHTRAAEBEERETLESD
PEATREIBEEND - AR ELXLRBEENE
18 BIBEESF RG]  RERBBRBIFM B
EREEBITRARBIFMEEMSRO T EAE

2L o

fm

B EXFEES  RAFEREAH - HE
AR BEFRITRABEN AR RIS H AL AR
ZEE(EERBFRAEEGIFEXVER) 2 Bfn -
HERD MEEETEREAREESFME
GBI XV #REE 7 ;8 0 BRA M & AR B R 32
PreEmsgok R (BREERERZ PERK
PIZ%ERERERIERER 2 B IR
B AR 5 K HE 1R P 5 352 fRZA RS #%
RZIRBIFTE 2 BRM 2 BEIAR + IRE
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R
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures” in this section, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2019 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the "Connected Transactions” as set
out in this section and the related party transactions
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements of this
Annual Report, no Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) has been conditionally adopted on 18
December 2018.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants (the “Eligible Participants”), to take up options
to subscribe for the shares:

(1) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(2) any directors (including executive, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(3) any advisers (professional or otherwise), consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and

(4) related entities who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (i.e. 17 December 2028).

fBRESE

ARARER=F-—NF+Z AT N\BHBKEHEE
BT B ([FE ARt 81 )) -
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing
Date and as at the date of this Annual Report. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options granted to
each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme
(including both exercised and outstanding options) within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. A grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the option). In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued, upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding), to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on or
before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that such a
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options and subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. The exercise price of the share options
shall be not less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer
of the share options, which must be a date on which the
Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities;
(ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company's shares for the five trading days immediately
before the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's share as at the date of offer.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions Eligible Participants had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our
Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the
Group.

No options had been granted or agreed to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year and up to the date
of this Annual Report. The Company did not have any
outstanding share options, warrants and convertible
instruments into shares as at 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this Annual Report.

fBRAESHE ()

REBRENZEOARNARAZNEH1ET
MmEEREERIBREEAN BE B2 FIA
B IREBRENTEHRESTE 2D
BRE  EZBETEAHEREREZNR
HIRERT 104 - AR BAEST SIS IR AT A2
LERSCRR AR © 1718 RE AR AR Al I 4B 455 A R RO
BAMROBE - BRENITEENSERT
JIRENRRE - () ARRRNREBREZELN
BHR(EAMRMABETEFEENRF)AE
BT (E () AR BRNREREZLR
HIRT AL(ER 5 AR P W B ¢ K (i)
AR R EL B HEE -

FERCRERT 815 — TR EhET & - TIRERTR
BEARERSEENANKEMFL KA ERFL
MBERIMRY - BIREABISRAERSEE
RERADFFAEARROBE - EEED
THEH: ()ABEERSEESAEEN G
RS TERE: RG)ERaI REEEERE A
FEREAEERHERENNAERZHE
o SAEMTAGREZFAERSEEN

RAFEREEAFERSAS  BMEREE
g SRR L ERE - KARRR=
T-hEFE+-A=+-—BREERFEERER
HAY S TR B 7 TAE SN BE AR A - SRR MERE e 1]
BT A -

HEERERAT / 2019F 3k

65



66

Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As of the date of this Annual Report, so far as was known to
any Director, or chief executive of our Company, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRAR®D - HERG R EEE
AR

RAFEHREAH - BARBESHITHRER
BT AT AL (R BEERITRAARGIN)
RARBRA - AR R B T A
BREARBEESRAEKRAIFEXVEE2R3
D EARMARE REZ R EA R R, SOK
B RARRIREE S M E IRPI5 336 15RE
BEZBLMATLENERRFRE

Number of ordinary

Approximate

Name of Capacity/ shares and percentage of

Shareholder Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
EBERNEE

BREEE8B B EmtE RFEZER BFRBAE 2L (%)

Peiport Alpha® Beneficial owner 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%%?

% =R A® ExnEAA 300,000,000 R& A% 17 (L)™

Mr. YEUNG® Interest in a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%%?

corporation

BEED TG EE RS 300,000,000 Rz A7 (L)

Ms. WONG® Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%@

Tt [IEE 300,000,000 A& A& 5 (L)

Notes: BEE -

1. The letter “L" denotes to the entity’s with long position in the securities. 1. FE LI EZEBRESNTR

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue 2. ER2IREETRIEE BT D 4 20400,000,000 i

after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 756% by Peiport Alpha. The entire
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 70% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our
Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the substantial or significant shareholders or
other persons, other than the Directors and chief executive
of the Company whose interests are set out in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures” in
this section, had any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2019.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in note 29 to
the financial statements. These transactions were conducted
in accordance with terms as agreed between us and the
respective related parties. Our Directors confirm that all
related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2019 were conducted on normal commercial
terms that were reasonable and in the interest of our Group
as a whole. Save as disclosed in below sections of this
Annual Report, there were no other connected transactions
or non-exempted continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

FERRARG - HBEROREER
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2019, we have entered
into a number of lease agreement (together, the “Lease
Agreements”, and each the "“Lease Agreement”) with the
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) in our
ordinary and usual course of business, which constitute
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules
upon our Listing.

Details of these continuing connected transactions of our
Group are set out below:

BEXS

FRREHEBERS

REBEZE-_T-NF+-_A=1TALFE &M
REEE—REEBETEBEAL(EER
LRI ZRBEE i (RELS [HER
#IRER—O[HEHZ])  HREMLS
BEBR ETRABTHORFERERS -

AEBNZEREMEIHOFBTEINNT

Maximum
annual rent

Date of lease agreement  Landlord Tenant Connected Relationship Location of property Areaof property ~ Term payable  Use of property

HEGSAH E£3 #F BERA NEBE NEER ik EHREFE NxAR

18 December 2018 Peiport Scientific Peiport Aero Peiport Scientific is owned as Room 1301, 156.12 s.m. Period commencing HK$600,000  Warehouse, system
t070% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG ~ Westlands Centre, from the Listing Date and integration and
and Ms. WONG, respectively. 20 Westlands Road, up to 31 December 2020 Service centre
Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are  Taikoo Place,
our Controlling Shareholders Hong Kong
and executive Directors

ZI-\FTZRTAR fENE RERA FEHEANIBREERERL FEKES 156,12 5% mImAREZ-T-%E 600000 B - REEAR
BEAT0%R30% - BRER R K TZA=+-ALLEA R
IRTRBERRERATES R

13012

18 December 2018 Peiport Scientific Peiport Aero Peiport Scientific is owned as Room 1302, 159.23 sq.m. Period commencing HK$600,000  Warehouse, system
t070% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG ~ Westlands Centre, from the Listing Date integration and
and Ms. WONG, respectively. 20 Westlands Road, and up to 31 Decerber service centre
Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are -~ Taikoo Place, 2020
our Controlling Shareholders Hong Kong
and executive Directors

“E-\ETZATNE REME RER FENEARBREERTRL BEAEY 159.3F A% HIMAHEE-3-3F 6000008 BB ZHERR
EAT0% R30%  BEER EHRNE TZA=t-ALLHH TRl
IRTAERRRRATES B

1302%

18 December 2018 Peiport Scientific Peiport Aero Peiport Scientific is owned as Room 1307, 158.29 sq.m. Period commencing HK$600,000  Warehouse, system
t070% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG ~ Westlands Centre, from the Listing Date integration and
and Ms. WONG, respectively. 20 Westlands Road, and up to 31 December service centre
Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONGare ~ Taikoo Place, 2020
our Controlling Shargholders Hong Kong
and executive Directors

ZF-\ETZATAR BERE R FENEARIBRTERT L BRAES 15829 A% HImABEZ-S-3F 600000 B RHEER
BAT0%R30% - BRER EFRNE tZA=t-BILEE gl
IRTRERRERAES =l

13072
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE ()

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BERXS (&)
Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions R ERERS (&)
(Continued)
Maximum
annual rent
Date of lease agreement  Landlord Tenant Connected Relationship Location of property Areaof property ~ Term payable  Use of property
REGHEAS E£3 #F BERA nEHY NEER ik EHBREE NERE
23 June 2019 Peiport Scientific Peiport Aero Peiport Scientific is owned as Car Parking Space 11.76 sq.m. Period commencing HK$50,400  Car parking space
1070% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG ~ No. P18 on 1t Floor, from 1 July 2019
and Ms. WONG, respectively. Westlands Centre, and up to 31 December
Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are 20 Westlands Road, 2020
our Controlling Shareholders Taikoo Place,
and executive Directors Hong Kong
ZT-MEAAZTZR BERE R BEMEARIBAEERERE FEAEY N76FAR BZE-NELA-R 5040081 BER
BAT0%R30% - BRER ERR % BER%E
IRTRERRERATES ERmd TZRZT-ALLEH
1EPIBREEN
9 January 2018 Mr. YEUNG Peiport Guangzhou Mr. YEUNG is our Controlling Unit 2623, 139.55 sq.m. Period of three years Renminbi ~ Office
Siing Opto-electronics  Shareholder and executive Wuyang Xincheng Plaza, commencing from ("RMB)
System Limited Director No.111 Siyou New Road, 1 January 2018 159,600
“Peiport Guangzhou') Yuexiu District,
Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
—Z-\¥-ANH kE BMGRERIZER  BREAERRERATES HEERERMT 13955 A% “E-\$-A-BHi ARE  HER
BRAR(REEM)) HARS RE=F (TARE)
RESRME 1596007
BFIfRBRE
9 March 2017 Ms. WONG Beijing Peiport Jingdu Ms. WONG is our Controlling Flat 2-7 on level 121 23545 sqm. Period of five years RMB360,000  Office
Technology Limited Shareholder and executive Block 1, Yuetan Mansion, commencing from
*Peiport Beiing’) Director No. 2 Yuetan North Street, 12 March 2017
Xicheng District, Beijing,
the PRC
ZE-tEZAAR int IRERRENRERAR IXLAARRRRATES TELRTESE 85457k TE-CECRATIHE ARBR000T  HER
(g7LR) Rl BELE
RERE-E
121827%
9 March 2017 Ms. WONG Peiport Beijing Ms. WONG is our Controlling Flat 2-8 on level 121 123.56 5.m. Period of five years RMB357,600  Office
Shareholder and executive Block 1, Yuetan Mansion, commencing from
Director No. 2 Yuetan North Street, 12 March 2017
Xicheng District, Beijing,
the PRC
ZZ-tEZANR Int (153198 IRtRERRARATES TELRTESE 123567k TE-LEZRTIHR O ARBWIANT  HER
R BELE
REAE-E
12182-8%
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE (HA)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BERS (&)
Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions R ERAERS (&)
(Continued)
Maximum
annual rent
Date of lease agreement  Landlord Tenant Connected Relationship Location of property Areaof property ~ Term payable  Use of property
REGEAS E£3 #F BERA VESS NEER ik EHBRERE NERE
1 November 2017 Ms. WONG Peiport Guangzhou Ms. WONG is our Controlling Unit 1102, Block C, 192 sq.m. Period of two years RMB172,800  Office
Shareholder and executive Hesheng Jingguang Centre, commencing from
Director No. 11 Tangyan Road, 1 November 2017
Xi'an Hi-tech Industries
Development Zone,
Yantat District, Xi'an,
Shaanxi Province,
the PRC
“F-t5+-A-B  Ift ) IR RNES PERESRZTEAE  192TAK ZI-tE-A-BR ARBIIMOT  HER
EXmRiELAEE BEmE
BB RRERERL
CEN0NE
1 November 2019 Ms. WONG Peiport Guangzhou Ms. WONG is our Controlling Unit 1102, Block C, 192 sq.m. Period of two years RMB172,800  Office
Shareholder and executive Hesheng Jingguang Centre, commencing from
Director No. 11 Tangyan Road, 1 November 2019
Xi‘an Hi-ech Industries
Development Zong,
Yantat District, Xi'an,
Shaanxi Province,
the PRC
“F-N\EFt-A-B It RN INTAERRRRATES PEREEAZTRAR 12Tk ZE-NET-A-BR ARBINS0T  HER
EReNREEALE hEmE
BB ERERERL
CENNE
8 January 2018 Ms. WONG Peiport Guangzhou Ms. WONG is our Controlling Unit 2301, Office 276.6 sq.m. Period of two years RMB215,784  Office
Shareholder and executive Block 1, Jinniu Wanda Plaza, commencing from
Director No. 118 Renmin North Road, 19 January 2018
2nd Section, Jinniu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province,
the PRC
—E-\§-ANA It M INTAERRERHTES HER)IERH T 266 THR “I-\E-ATABR  ARBVsIMT  HER
i BERE
ARIE 1185
SHERES
BFRIER0E
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
material change in the Lease Agreements. There was also
no termination of the Lease Agreements, nor was there any
failure to terminate when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Lease Agreements are removed.

The aggregate of the maximum annual rent payable by the
Group under all of the Lease Agreements described above is
approximately HK$3.8 million and HK$3.8 million which shall
constitute the maximum amount of rent payable by us to
Peiport Scientific, Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively. In relation
to the Lease Agreements for the properties in Hong Kong,
our Group was not charged any rentals in respect of our
usage thereof before the entering into of the Lease
Agreements for the properties in Hong Kong.

Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are our Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors, while Peiport
Scientific is an associate of our Controlling Shareholders.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreements will constitute continuing connected
transactions for our Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Since each of applicable percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) as defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules
for the Lease Agreements is expected to be more than 0.1%
but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreements are subject to
the reporting, annual review and announcement but will be
exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company's shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the Company’s external auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Financial statements and with reference to
Practice Note 740 Auditors’ Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the
HKICPA. Ernst & Young issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected tractions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure
of connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESEHE (E)

REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the remuneration policy for
employees of the Group is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority which are reviewed periodically.

Compensation of Directors of the Group is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, approved by the Board and
authorised by the shareholders at the AGM of the Company,
which is based on the Group’'s performance and the
Directors’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” on pages 63 to 65 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
section on pages 32 to 53 of this Annual Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at
the date of this Annual Report, at least 25% of the
Company's total number of issued shares were held by the
public.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event after the reporting period are
set out in note 33 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEEHRE (E)

AUDITOR
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board of Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B %A RS

Ernst & Young RKE BT Tel E3%: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower FEEhIEREE 1% Fax {#E.:+852 2868 4432
1 Tim Mei Avenue S AE2248 www.ey.com
§7i Central, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Peiport Holdings Ltd. B FERER AT RRER

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 176, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BY ZBARE (F

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BE RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

RREXER

HREZSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matters

EENBERNMEEEAREZSER

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

B 5 WA R FE YW R 15 1Y 6l 18 1

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade and bills
receivables of HK$106,637,000, after making a provision of
HK$1,076,000. The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide impairment for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
under HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime ECLs
for all trade and bills receivables. To measure the ECLs,
trade and bills receivables are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due and the
calculation of ECLs are based on the historical observable
default rates and forward-looking information. The ECLs of
trade and bills receivables were HK$1,076,000 as at 31
December 2019.

RZZBE-—NF+-A=+—H  ESBE{EL#E#1,076,000% T
BESRERFIEREREN 106,637,000 - ESRBEHRAML
%= MBAAMBmELERFESR THEHEEER(FEREEEE])
SRR ERE  ZBEAFRBEE S EUHKIERERERERAEH
TRHIE IERE - Bt ETREEEEE  BESRKRFERERERE
BEXRGEERRFERGHAHSSE  MEHREEEENENB
FABRMERERAEEERFTE -RZE-—hF+A=1+—
HHE SRR IE K EREIRTEHEEEIE R 1,076,0008 7T

We focused on this area because it required a high level of
management judgement and estimation and the amounts
involved were material.
EEMTIZABAEREZTESKTENERBHE KRG Mk
SREERX °

The Group’s disclosures of the trade and bills receivables
are included in notes 3 and 17 to the financial statements.
EEBYHESRRFBEREREENFEHRNPERENTIR
17 °

We assessed the Group's internal
controls over the credit control of trade
and bills receivables. We also reviewed
management’'s assessment regarding
the recoverability of the Group's trade
and bills receivables by evaluating the
assumptions and methodologies of the
ECLs model, obtaining evidence which
included background search and review
of repayment history, checking the
accuracy of ageing of trade and bills
receivables and forward-looking
information and recalculating ECLs. We
also assessed the disclosures related to
trade and bills receivables in the
consolidated financial statements.
EEE BEERHESRERIBRERER
EEZEHNABES - EENTEERAEES
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I EIRARE RATIE M E R R eI R EFTE
EHEEEE EUEHEEEN E5EE
) IR WK T8 B e W 32 4% ) AT Ui [ 14 HE 17 9 T
o EEMAGEVBBREP I RE HEW
HIERERERA R

HEERERAT / 2019F 3K

77



/83

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BYZBAERE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

RAREZEE

HREZSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matters

EENERNMEERREELER

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

REFERE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had inventories of
HK$48,926,000, after making allowance for inventory
obsolescence of HK$340,000. Allowance for inventory
obsolescence is based on management’s judgement using
the available facts and circumstances, including but not
limited to, the inventories’ own physical conditions, their
market selling prices and estimated selling costs of the
inventories.

RZZBE-NFT+ZA=+—H  BSEELRERFERERE 340,000
BB E 48,926,000 7T - REFERE HEREEEFERAT
FEERBERA(BREETNBRREFERGNMERL HMHEER
FEMMETHEKA) ML &Y -

We focused on this area as the inventories were material to
the consolidated financial statements and the determination
of allowance for inventory obsolescence involved significant
management’s judgement and estimation.
EERIZAB AR GEHGRAVMBHRERBEN BEERET
BEREIRERENEAN A R -

The Group’s disclosures of the inventories are included in
notes 3 and 16 to the financial statements.
EREEHEENRESNMBERRMTIR16 -
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We attended management’s inventory
counts and observed the processes at
material inventory locations, including
observing the processes implemented by
management to identify and monitor
obsolete inventories. We evaluated the
assessments made by management in
respect of identification of inventory
obsolescence by assessing inventory
costing, ageing reports, and obsolete
inventories on a sampling basis. We re-
calculated the allowance for inventory
obsolescence in accordance with the
Group's policy.
EEHEERENTFERY TN EEFEME
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BE RS ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BYZBAERE (&)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Company's audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B A RS (])

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRBAMRER GRS W B RRAEREN

B1E ()

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEREaREMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2019 B &2 —ZE— W F+_A=+—HIFFZ

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =t THER THAT
REVENUE Wz 5 275,354 262,080
Cost of sales SHERA (182,212) (168,025)
Gross profit E7 93,142 94,055
Other income and gains, net HA WA R IR F 5 5 2,374 1,827
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEMAT (28,838) (24,308)
Administrative expenses THRAX (27,912) (44,127
Other expenses Hibpix (1,878) (7,641)
Finance costs B 5 Ak A 7 (544) =
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB A 2 A 6 36,344 19,806
Income tax expense FeRAxY 10 (6,031) (8,299)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEBRA 30,313 11,507
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS H{ti2EE#E
Exchange differences on translation #2& 5NEl 2 5 HFE 5 =58
of foreign operations (537) (3,061)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ZRHE#t2HEER
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIBRBi1E (537) (3,061)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME £ 2 H k#5255
FOR THE YEAR 29,776 8,446
Profit attributable to: AR &7 BG5S T -
Owners of the parent HARHEEA 30,313 11,507
Total comprehensive income UATEFEGRE
attributable to: Wi ia%s
Owners of the parent BARHEA 29,776 8,446
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBEEREEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FE{&SRER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted ERRES 12 HK7.63 cents &1l HK3.84 cents 71l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\E
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5T FHT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENERE 13 11,443 10,483
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 6,809 -
Intangible assets ERAE 15 869 -
Deferred tax assets IRIETR I E B 23 2,063 2,240
Total non-current assets EMENEEBE 21,184 12,723
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 16 48,926 43,270
Trade and bills receivables Z 5 W RIE RE R E 17 106,637 111,725
Prepayments, deposits and AR - Be &k
other receivables Hup el a8 18 6,243 35,812
Cash and bank balances e MIRITH R 19 177,127 52,916
Total current assets MEEERE 338,933 243,723
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B 5 et 508 20 7,247 13,886
Other payables and accruals HinpE B R EE A 21 9,793 38,828
Contract liabilities AHBaE 22 7,430 13,497
Lease liabilities HEaRE 14 4,907 =
Tax payable FEf R IR 7,086 4,921
Total current liabilities mEaEAE 36,463 71,132
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 302,470 172,591
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #&ERGEERE
LIABILITIES 323,654 185,314
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERS
Lease liabilities HEaRE 14 2,322 =
Total non-current liabilities EmBaEEE 2,322 =
Net assets EEFE 321,332 185,314
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e AR R IR (&)

31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

2019 2018
—ZE-hEFE ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ik FET FH&T
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to owners of SAFEEAEGER
the parent

Share capital &7 24 4,000 4
Reserves A 25 317,332 185,310
Total equity T iRE 321,332 185,314

YEUNG Lun Ching

WONG Kwan Lik

BiRE B
Director Director
EE o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MeERBg R
Year ended 31 December 2019 B Z=F—NF+=-H=1+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARE AL
Statutory  Exchange
Share Share Other suplus fluctuation Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve’ profits* equity

EERS  EXRY
RE  BOEE* ARk e i REENT  BReE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

(note 24) (note 25 (note 25)
(sion) () ()
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-H-H 4 - 2181 2,123 1,120 239,864 265,582
Profit for the year EERH = = 8 - = 11,507 11,507
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ FREMZEEE :
Exchange differences on translation ~ AENREBHELZE
of foreign operations - - - - (3,061) - (3,061)
Total comprehensive (loss}/income ERRE(EE)/ ML
for the year - - - - (3,061) 11,607 8,446
Transfer from retained profits EREREET i - - 957 - (957) -
Deemed distribution REDRTRE
to the shareholders - - (88,714) - - - (88,714
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-\E+-A=1+-H
1 January 2019 RZE-NF-A-H 4 - (66,843) 3,680 (1941 250414 185,314
Profit for the year ERE - - - - - 30313 30,313
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ EREBZHARE :
Exchange differences on ranslation ~ HENNTERHNELEE
of foreign operations - - - - (537) - (537)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome FR2E(BE)/WRES
for the year - - - - (537) 30,313 29,776
Transfer from retained profits ERAREET - - - 455 - (455) -
Capitalisation Issue (as defined in B BT (e R 2400)
note 24(i) 2,99 (2,996) - - - - -
New issue of shares from global offering B2 HREEMNHETRN 1,000 124,000 - - - - 125,000
Share issue expenses R - (18,758) - - - - (18,758)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AE+-A=t-H 4,000 102,246 (66,843) 4,135 (2,478) 280,272 321,332
@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREROEREMBRARANGERE
HK$317,332,000 (2018: HK$185,310,000) in the consolidated statement of 317,332,000 T ( =2 —/\4 : 185,310,000/ 7T) °

financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GeRERER

Year ended 31 December 2019 B &2 —ZE— W F+_A=+—HIFFZ

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt =E FaET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K4 ZEfERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: MR A 36,344 19,806
Adjustments for: AT FIBEL T
Finance costs B R AR 7 544 -
Bank interest income RITR B A 5 (741) (87)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE  BEK
property, plant and equipment HEEA EE 6 10 468
Gain on disposal of financial assets  HEH AT EE ABEN
at fair value through profit or loss SRVEE 2 W 5 - (79)
Depreciation of property, plantand  #%¥ - = RkEHEITE
equipment 6 2,976 2,602
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FREEERE 6 5,303 =
Amortisation of intangible assets I A 6 167 =
Gain on remeasurement resulting EiRATR I EMERTE
from early-termination of FREEEZ W
right-of-use assets 5 (11) -
Reversal of inventory obsolescence [R&7F & # Gl 6 (61) (254)
Reversal of doubtful receivables, FE WU IR R BR B B R
net B (136) (1,552)
44,395 20,904
Increase in inventories T (7,978) (15,306)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B S WA R ERERE
bills receivables (G n) 3,623 (27,034)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEZIE - &4 R E b FEL
deposits and other receivables AR A, () 10,661 (6,609)
Decrease in amount due from a FE W — I B s A R SR IE R A
related company - 1,404
Decrease in amount due from U — R A Z R A R
the ultimate holding company IER A - 4
Decrease in pledged deposits [REEEHEES O - 480
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables 2 5 28GR ), /180 (4,351) 5,160
(Decrease)/increase in other payables E {th &t I8 Kk BT E
and accruals CRA), /8 m (3,399) 26,707
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHBECRD), 15N
liabilities (5,983) 7,987
Cash generated from operations BEMELIRS 36,968 13,697
Interest received BYFE 741 87
Interest paid EAFE (544) =
Income taxes paid EAFTER (3,601) (9,318)
Net cash flows from operating KEEBMEIR S R T8
activities 33,564 4,466
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

SERERER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2019 B & —ZE—NWF+_A=+—HIFFZ

2019 2018
—E-AEFE —ZF-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Lz FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING #®EZEHFRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, WY - BB REEIEE
plant and equipment (2,300) (226)
Purchases of financial assets at W IR A ET ARRA
fair value through profit or loss TREE - (11,810)
Proceeds from disposal of financial H&iZ A EFAERE
assets at fair value through SREEFTR A
profit or loss - 27,003
Additions of intangible assets NB B EE (1,048) =
Receipt of returns on financial assets 2 Wit A FEH ABEEH
at fair value through profit or loss TEVEER R 5 - 79
Settlement of directors’ balances EEEEES - 36,786
Advances to directors BARTES - (4,966)
Net cash flows (used in)/from WE&EE (FTR),/Fris
investing activities RemEFE (3,348) 46,866
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®mEZEMERSRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares RRADEEATFRIS 5RIB 125,000 -
Share issue expenses Betn B1TR X (25,511) -
Principal portion of lease payments & ERAS HH (4,871) -
Listing expenses paid — B EmRAxZ — #wE S
equity portion 26 (9) (17,905)
Cash paid arising from the BHERRWEDEE
Reorganisation WENE2
(as defined in note 1) - (19,371)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEBFTE, (FTA)
financing activities HemneEF8E 94,609 (37,276)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERBEEEWEMNFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 124,825 14,056
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRE RIBEZEEY
beginning of year 52,916 40,621
Effect of foreign exchange rate GINGEE [EE =R B4 B 57 22 5 5B
changes, net (614) (1,761)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SXH&¢RHEESZEY
AT END OF YEAR 177,127 52,916
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH H&RELSZEYEH DT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 4 RIRITLER 19 177,127 52,916
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 7% iy ZR B &

31 December 2019 —E— W F+_H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law (as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 19 December 2017. The registered office
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 11 January 2019 (the
“Listing Date").

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “"Group”) were principally engaged in
the provision of (i) thermal imaging products and
services; (ii) self-stabilised imaging products and
services; and (iii) general aviation products and
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Group is Peiport Alpha Ltd., which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with
limited liability and is controlled by Mr. YEUNG Lun
Ching (“Mr. YEUNG") and Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (“Ms.
WONG").

Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Company in
connection with the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange (the
“Reorganisation”), the Company became the holding
company of the companies now comprising the Group.
Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure” in the prospectus of the Company dated 31
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

1.

RAREEER

REERERARTARADRZE
—tF T+ ATNBREREHS AT
E (R ima RERT) ER S ST ML
REREERAT - ARG TMPHE
BE bl A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

ARAROR-_ZB—-—NF—A+—H
TEmBESMDEEBBHARIMERN
B ([B3 AT ]) EARET ©

RRRR—HREZERRE - FAXR
AIREMBAR (5 [ AEE]) T2
EREOAREER LR : () BRE
PR EE mm S AR TS ¢ I (iii) 5B A ZE 2 %
AR -

EFERB ARENRKRERRAFRE
EMBEERAR  ER—MRNEBH
BARES((RBHARES ) EMKIL
MERAR XXBRELEETHE
EDREBENARE(ERL])#ZEH -

RIBARBI AR BRBAD B FT £
mETHEAR(ER])  RARKRBAR
SEREETNARNERAR - BEEK
HBERNARRARAR T N\F+=
A=t+—BmAkEiR(HARERD®
[ BHENEHERE] -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

90

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries MEARER
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are as AAFMBABIMFBRT :
follows:
Nominal value
Place and date of of issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
HI/ SR BRALER/ KRFER
8 A RSEE EMBEAEE BREMM TEER
Direct Indirect
E# %
% %
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Peiport Bravo Ltd. BVI HKS1 100 - Investment holding
20 December 2017
RRERARAR REEARES 1787 RETBR
“2—t¥+-A=1H
Peiport Creative Ltd. BVI HKS1 100 - Investment holding
20 December 2017
RreFARRA RBEARES 1787 REBR
“2—tF+-A-TH
Peiport Scientific Aero Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
18 December 2017 products and services and
(i) self-stabilised imaging
products and services
RERMARAR 5 1787 REE(BREERREBR
ZE—tETZATNA li| B BER B ER R IR

Peiport Industries Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 100 Provision of (i thermal imaging
1 March 2006 products and services;
(i) self-stabilised imaging
products and services; and
(i) general aviation products
REEEARAA BB 2,000,0007%7 Fefth () 2k G E R R AR

23745278
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M aE (5])

31 December 2019 —E— W F+_H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. RARKEEER(F)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER (&)
Nominal value
Place and date of of issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
I/ EMER BRALER/ KRFER
8 AR EE LS EMBRAEE RREM IEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
DNL Optoelec Systems Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of thermal imaging
11 August 2000 products and services
HEXBZAARAT 5 1,000,000 7 UK EED R
“EEREN\AT-H
Peiport (Shanghai) Optoelectronics  People’s Republic of Renminbi - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
Technology Limited © China (the "PRC"/ (“RMB") products and services;
“Mainland China") 10,180,000 (i) self-stabilised imaging
9 November 2011 products and services; and
(iil) general aviation products
iR (L) HEREARAR mE AR HLAE ARE(TARE]) FRflh () 2k G E R R AR
([ ThER) 10,180,000 li| B E B ER R IR
Z3——%51-AnA Rli)BRREER
Guangzhou Peiport Sijing PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
Optoelectronics System Limited® 19 November 2003 products and services;
(i} self-stabilised imaging
products and services; and
(iii) general aviation products
BHNEERRAEZARARY hE/RERY AEH% Fedt () R & 2 m BARES
ZEE=ET-ATNA 20,000,000 li) B e A S I 7

Rii) BRAEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

RAREEER (&)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER (&)
Nominal value
Place and date of of issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered attributable
Name place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
HI/ERBER BRTLER/ KRB
8 A RS &S EMBEAEE RREA TEER
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Beijing Peiport Jingdu Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB5,100,000 - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
Limited®! 26 March 2001 products and services;
(i) self-stabilised imaging
products and services; and
(i) general aviation products
IRBERARRERARY hE/hER AR R () B GERRRE -
S e s Y 5,100,000 7T (i) B R T AR e A S A
R i) I B
Peiport (Zhuhai) Air Equipment PRC/Mainland China United States - 100 Provision of general aviation
Manufacturing Limited @ 2 January 2004 dollars ("US$") products and services
250,000
i CRE) MESHEEERATY hE /AR 250,000 %7 REEANZER R RS
“ZEME-A=H (%))
(a)  Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law @  REPBEDEAEZMAIEBELE
(b)  Registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law b)  RIEHEEREMABRRAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M aE (5])
31 December 2019 —ZE—hF+_-_A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 fREREE

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. The financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

Pursuant to the Reorganisation as set out in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus, the Company became
the holding company of its subsidiaries now comprising
the Group. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared as if the Group had always
been in existence throughout both years presented; or
since the respective dates of incorporation or
establishment of the group companies, rather than
from the date when the Company became the holding
company pursuant to the Reorganisation.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

BBRRDBEEEGAMAS(EE
SRTENA® ) MM BB RS A
(IEBMBHRELER]) (BREMEEEM
BREEA  BRGFEN(ER G
A RRE)  BERREFTRAINE
BRRHRPIMWEREMmE - BJ01%
BELRAEHRER BRI UAET
(BThH2%  BEfMBEEANEER
BT - S BHABRRI -

REANRERE

REBRERRESL  EARQEIRE]
—HMENEEEHR  ARBERSEAE
BERFETHBARNZERAR - A&
B e MBEBRRIIBRASENRZ25W
MIEFE B S B ARE B MM
KRB ME-—EFEMAE  MIER
REARRRBEEAKRIZERLFNA
HEFEmmEa -

MEABRARAERIERENNE
R(EEEBLER) EXAKEYH2E
BREHSEBR ISR HAERRKE
BREMANESEBEREL REE S (A
AEBRETHRARINIEREHR
1ERRE B BE AR B % M R
BIEIS 1B -

WARBERAMEREINEREHR
REBIRZRBLENROER - AIAE
BRFAGESEHEEHREHRNED
HeZE—HEREERIER 8%
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
S HmBRMEE ()

31 December 2019 —FE— W F+—-A=+—H
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
ISR MEE ()
31 December 2019 —ZE—hF+_-_A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BEREEZHESE

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

AEEDRANFEHIBRER B RRA
AT AT R EIERT BB R 5 S 2Rl -

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative EEMBRERNEIR ABREFENEEN
Compensation WA Kt

HKFRS 16 Leases BEMBREENE 6% HE

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or EREHENE19% SHEIGIE - et E s
Settlement MEET R

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates BRI ENE28% REERERAELFES
and Joint Ventures RPN HEE R

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax B (BRB s 2 FEH RN T EE T

Treatments BZEE)-2BERR
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, “E-RFEE-F—+F  BEUBHREEDNER
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle  HKAS 12 and HKAS 23 HHEENE B BREES

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKFRS 16 Leases, the adoption of the above
new and revised HKFRSs do not have material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a
single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except
for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS
17. Lessors continue to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in
HKAS 17.

HKFRS 16 did not have any significant impact on leases
where the Group is the lessor.

S5 BEGHER
F12RREEGER
FBFEMEFTA

BRI XEEBMBRELEANE16RAEE
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard
has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January
2019, and the comparative information for 2018 was
not restated and continued to be reported under HKAS
17 and related interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or
changed on or after 1 January 2019.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 SBEREESHESE (&)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for several warehouses,
system integration and service centres, office
properties (collectively the “Office Properties”) and a
car parking space. As a lessee, the Group previously
classified leases as either finance leases or operating
leases based on the assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16,
the Group applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all
leases, except for two elective exemptions for leases
of low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis)
and leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) (elected by class of underlying
asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the
right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate at 1 January 2019. The right-of-use assets were
measured at the amount of the lease liabilities, adjusted
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S:BEREESZHESE (&)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (Continued)

Impacts on transition (Continued)

All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to
present the right-of-use assets separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019:

. Using a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics

. Relying on its assessment of whether leases are
onerous immediately before the date of initial
application

e Applying the short-term leases exemptions to
leases with lease term that ends within 12 months
at the date of initial application

. Excluding the initial direct costs from the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date
of initial application

U Using hindsight in determining the lease term

where the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 SBEREESHESE (&)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Financial impact at 1 January 2019

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as

at 1 January 2019 was as follows:

ERMBHREENF1657HEE (B)
R-B-NF-A-BHNHELE

R-ZF-NF-A - BRATEVHER
EERF16MAELNZENT

HK$'000
FET
Assets EE
Increase in right-of-use assets RSB AN 11,278
Increase in total assets BEAESN 11,278
Liabilities =L
Increase in lease liabilities THE S EIE 11,278
Increase in total liabilities BEEE S 11,278

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December

R-E—NF—A—BNEEEEAR
“E-NFTZA=T—HHKEHEE

2018 are as follows: EELHRNT
HK$'000
T
Operating lease commitments as R-B-N\E+=-A=+—HH
at 31 December 2018 REHERE 9,970
Weighted average incremental borrowing RZZE-—hE—-H—AH
rate as at 1 January 2019 DT 2 15 B F & 4.97%
Discounted operating lease commitments RZZE—hE—HA—AK
as at 1 January 2019 IR SR EAE 9,242
Add: Payments for optional extension m:R=—E—-N\E+=-_A=+—H
periods not recognised RIESR Y 7] IE B 3K
as at 31 December 2018 2,036
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-hE—H—HHNHEEAEE 11,278
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform'
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, the Group considers that these
new and revised HKFRSs may result in changes in
accounting policies but are unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESGEREE

POLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwiill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

104

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group; and
the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33'/3%
office equipment
Plant and machinery 20% to 33'/3%
Equipment for rental purpose  20%

Motor vehicles 33"3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office Properties and
a car parking space

1 to 4 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) HE(B=E-hEF—A—RHBER)
(Continued) (#&)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEREBEAN (&)

(b) Lease liabilities b) HEARE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
oCccurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum
lease payments and recorded together with the
obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments
under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is
the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. \Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade and bills
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade and bills receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’'s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

RIEBIASEMEE (B)

EAKEEERANNZAEEEMBR
ERENENHC AT —RB N5
AEKFGEESEREHEELXREEN
R EE - REREZ SRR N DR
MIZE - METEBRNREZREE
BB A B0 BB K B ¥k - B I SR
HEEMZHIE  AEEEERARE
MRFESEEERAZEREE - £l
BRAT  AEETEREEAE B8
BNEEREHBERRRAKECDR
BN R EENERESE -

FESEEICEREEFHNRE -
WiRZAEENREE(ERAEE LA
EENREBER LR 2BEEE -

TRHEERE

AEEBAA AL IFFE R FEFABER
BNEBTARRAREEEE(EDR
EEEE]DBE AHREEEBEIUR
BENENNEHNREREEAEETR
HEBMAEREREZHNEZERE
- RREEBRNEEINZEEER -
BHRERESBERKXAHEMFT AL
AR EMERERNRSRE )
BRI BRI EE D ©

HEERERAT / 2019F 3K

115



31 December 2019 —FE— W F+—-A=+—H

116

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 1 year past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and bills receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the special
identification basis and, in the case of semi-finished
products and finished products, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued) Wi e (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHWE (B)

(Continued)

(a) Sales of products (a) EmEHE
Revenue from the sales of products is recognised EmiEMERENEEEHIES
at the point in time when control of the asset is BTRERP 2R (—RRARNERR)
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery MR o

of the products.

(b) Provision of maintenance services (b) REHEISRE
Revenue from the provision of maintenance REMEESIRIE TS W aT 8 HAM
services is recognised over the scheduled period NIZESEERR - THREFR
on a straight-line basis because the customer R RZAREERENFIE -

simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources 3R B H A R A U

Equipment rental income is recognised on a time A & WA P TE & HA 4 e L 01 7
proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease R o AEUARIEE KM X el #HER
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are FIEHEERN S RN ERR RBA -

recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Other income HAgW A

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using FEWAREAEEFAFEHIAR
the effective interest method by applying the rate that TEHAF Bk R AR (M A ) MM at ok
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts RBEWABRUEZeMEEREF
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a BRI E - AERFIZE T AR -

shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or the a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTBRHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g.,
construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of Office Properties and a car
parking space due to the significance of these assets
to its operations. These leases have a short non-
cancellable period (i.e., three to five years) and there
will be a significant negative effect on production if a
replacement is not readily available.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends from subsidiaries according to the relevant
tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing
of the payment of the dividends. Management
considered that it is not probable that the Group’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China will distribute retained
profits as at the end of each of the reporting periods in
the foreseeable future, and accordingly no provision for
withholding tax was made. Where the final outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts originally
rewarded, the difference will impact the deferred tax
provision in the period in which the difference arises.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for certain
deductible temporary differences and unpaid expenses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences or unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Further details are contained in note 23 to
the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and
bills receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group used judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of the reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and bills receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. Further details of the trade and bills
receivables are given in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group "would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value of
the inventories. The assessment of the provision
required involves management’s judgement and
estimates on market conditions. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will have an impact
on the carrying amounts of inventories and the write-
down and reversal of write-down of inventories in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group was principally engaged in the provision of
thermal imaging products and services, self-stabilised
imaging products and services and general aviation
products and services. Information reported to the
Group's chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the
Group as a whole as the Group's resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

RETHER (8])

Geographical information & & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REIFBEFHIWE
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—N\FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T
Mainland China R B A 3 235,221 228,931
Hong Kong and Macau BB MR 37,624 31,005
Overseas Rl 2,509 2,144
275,354 262,080
The revenue information above is based on the il s E R IR R R 1
locations of the customers. o
(b) Non-current assets (b) FEARBEE
2019 2018
—E-hAE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Mainland China R B A 15,018 10,406
Hong Kong E5 4,103 77
19,121 10,483
The non-current assets information above is based i IEREBEEER TIIRIBEEER
on the locations of the assets and excludes EHEL  TEREREEREESE -

deferred tax assets.

mEnRERAR /201968 133



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

4.

134

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to individual customers
which contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 is as follows:

IFREFEHR

RBE_F-NAFE_F-N\F+_H
=+—BLEFE  ERASEAKSE
B10% ZEAFTPHEMBRELT

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

Customer A ZEA 57,156 29,237

Customer B =FEB N/ATER* 41,345
Customer C ®EC 35,059 N/ANE A *
a The corresponding revenues from these customers are not disclosed as > BRGNS R T BB AEERE 10%

the revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the Group's
revenue for the respective periods.
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31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. Wz

- Hftt A R SR

NET
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is Was - H AR FEITAT
as follows:
Revenue g
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Thermal imaging products and services ZApK 1% E b R ARTS
— Sales of goodsNete @ — HEERMEW 144,187 149,067
— Rendering of maintenance — REEERE K
services and equipment 0 R E e
rentalNote ® 12,405 11,593
156,592 160,660
Self-stabilised imaging products BTG E @ MRS
and services
— Sales of goodsNote ® — fHEEEHEe 25,266 28,989
— Rendering of maintenance — REEERBR
services and equipment HiETREmEe
rentalNote © 9,299 14,498
34,565 43,487
General aviation products and services @REfZE @& RGE
— Sales of goodsNote ™ — HEEmMER 82,811 57,337
— Rendering of maintenance — REEBREES
servicesNoe ® 1,386 596
84,197 57,933
Total szt 275,354 262,080

Note (A)

Nte®  The revenue from rendering of maintenance services and equipment

The revenue from sales of goods was recognised at a point in time.

FiFiE (A)

FifiE (B)

rental was recognised over time, which included operating lease income
of HK$3,085,000 (2018: HK$4,052,000) for the year ended 31

December 2019.

HEERKES TINER R o

TR A (S BR 7S R % 1 70 UK a5 T B s ) e
R HEEHE—_Z—hE+-_A=+—A1
IEFEREERERA3,0850008T(=F
— )\ : 4,052,000787T) °
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5.

136

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. sk - HttUg AR Unsa 58 (4F)
NET (Continued)
Performance obligations BHEE
The performance obligations for sales of goods is HEEMNBANEEARRNEYREST
satisfied upon delivery of the goods and the WIELT - MR RAEERENBZEEERN
performance obligations for rendering of maintenance BAEERIBERF 2 METIMETT ©
services and equipment rental is satisfied over time.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the RZE-NEFRZZE-—NF+=ZA
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or —t+—HOREFHRBOHEECRETH
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 BT E D RETMIETT) R S ERI
are as follows: T
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Amounts expected to be recognised JFEEISER AWM SEE ¢
as revenue:
Within one year —FR 9,817 9,357
After one year — &% 25,265 30,101
35,082 39,458

For sales of goods contracts with original expected
duration of less than one year, the Group has elected
not to disclose information about the remaining
performance obligations. All considerations from
contracts with customers with original expected
duration of not less than one year have been included
in the transaction price and, therefore, were included in
the information disclosed in the above table.
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R RMIEE (48)

31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,

NET (Continued)

Wz - HEW AR EFE (R

Other income and gains, net Hgg A R W35
2019 2018
—E-hAE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Bank interest income ERITHI BUA 11 87
Gain on disposal of financial assets HEZAFEFT ABZA
at fair value through profit or loss DRLVEE 2 W - 79
Gain on remeasurement resulting AIRATX IEMEFET 2
from early-termination of FEREEE 2 W=
right-of-use assets 11 o
Reversal of doubtful receivables, net & U g IE R B 2 [0 7 F 58 136 1,652
Recovery of written-off trade g B B #fi 55 & 5 e W FRIE
receivables 1,417 -
Others Hh 69 109
2,374 1,827
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31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBiAEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after AN E B R B R AR R TR (GEA)
charging/(crediting): AT EIBEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FET FAT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERKA 175,546 161,215
Cost of services provided RHARFERK AR 6,666 6,810
Depreciation of property, YE  BERRETE
plant and equipment 13 2,976 2,602
Depreciation of right-of-use EREESENE
assets 14 5,303 =
Amortisation of intangible assets &z &z 4 15 167 -
Research and development costs &2k 7 4,056 4,091
Reversal of doubtful receivables, fEUrFIBE RBR R EF5E
net 5,17 (136) (1,552)
Recovery of written-off trade W e B M sHE 5 e MR
receivables 5 (1,417) =
Reversal of inventory fREFERE
obsolescence (61) (254)
Minimum lease payments KEHE TREHAERK
under operating leases - 2,665
Employee benefit expense BB AMFH X
(excluding directors’ and (TERBEER
chief executive’s remuneration  S=1THEA B & B
(note 8)): (Mi7E8)) -
Wages and salaries TERES 31,479 27,935
Pension scheme RIS T B R
contributions (defined (EEEHRETED
contribution scheme) 3,693 1,530
35,172 29,465
Auditor’'s remuneration % 25 Bl 357 B 1,300 1,360
Listing expenses WX - 21,821
Foreign exchange differences, bE =R SEE
net* 1,405 5,545
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BER
property, plant and equipment BEIEE EE 10 468
Gain on disposal of financial HER AT EFAEBL
assets at fair value through e e E 2 e
profit or loss 5 - (79)
Bank interest income RITF B UA 5 (741) (87)

*

The foreign exchange loss, net was included in “Other expenses” in & SN EHEF AT AR B R E M 2 ke
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive R [HEmpS ] -
income.
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31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BHAE

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: M ADITAT -

2019 2018
—E-AFE ZE-N\F
HK$"000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBGERE 544 -
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 EERESITHAEFMH

REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the BEBEXAEISR LRI LR
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the A1) - BB R EEHI 5 383(1)(@) ~ (b)
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the © RO EARARI(KEEENRER)
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1){a), (b), (c) and (f) of the ROFE 2 BRENFAZEERERITH
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the ABFHEAT -
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2019 2018

—E-nE ZEFNF
HK$'000  HK$'000

THxT FET

Fees s 360 15
Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERREWER

in kind 4,547 3,755

Performance related bonuses FIRMERATEAT 722 525

Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHR 36 36

5,665 4,331
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31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 ESRESTHAEHFHM(E)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUKHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive FAMBYFNTESIFOES
directors during the year were as follows: R
2019 2018

—2-nE =B N\F
HK$'000  HK$'000

FHET FAT
Mr. NIU Zhongjie GeEELAE 120 5
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen X+ 120 5
Mr. HOU Min BEIREE 120 5
360 15
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAMEEMEMNBIIENTES
independent non-executive directors during the e (ZE—N\F: &) -

year (2018: Nil).
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By B AR Y R (4R

31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

Salaries,

allowances Performance
related

and benefits

EERESTRAEHM (&)

(b) BITEERBESTRAR

Pension

scheme Total

2019 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
& 2ER RYAEE Bike
—E-NF ENER i BE L3 gMaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Mr. YEUNG BhE 1,873 290 - 2,163
Ms. WONG* E e 1,637 260 18 1,915
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BIRREAE 1,037 172 18 1,227
4,547 722 36 5,305
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
2018 in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e 2R KA Eike
“2-N\F EREH fE4T SIS HiiesE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr TExT BT FET
Mr. YEUNG BEE 1,564 212 - 1,766
Ms. WONG* Tt 1,410 188 18 1,616
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BiREEE 791 125 18 934
3,755 525 36 4,316
e Ms. WONG is also the chief executive officer of the Company. e ERZEIMARARITHREE -
There was no arrangement under which a director REAN  BEEEESHEXRE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEAMFHM e ZH(ZE—N\F -
during the year (2018: Nil). ) o
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the RER - REEWFEAE S TH

Group to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office (2018: Nil).

MIERINAR KB K INARE B R

OF-

B ERMRRNME(CE

—N\E:E)-
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9.

142

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year
included three directors (2018: three directors), details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2018: two) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TEBREFHES

FANDEERFREEEE=2EZF(Z
T—)\F: =ZR2EF) HFEHFBIR
MR ES - FAKRTMA(ZFT
—N\F MB)UFARREELEZSIT
BABNERSHREENFMABLT

2019 2018
—E-AFE ZE-NF
HK$"000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EANEYER
in kind 2,019 1,170
Performance related bonuses FRIRARETEAL 253 711
Pension scheme contributions RIRS S Bt ER 36 36
2,308 1,917

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

SIAATHMAR N FEERIFRSTT
BABZGE=HEEHBWNT

Number of employees
EE"A
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\EF

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T

- 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7c = 1,500,000 78 7T 2 1
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FEBiR X

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in
which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands, the Company is not subject to any
income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective
from the year of assessment 2018/2019. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2018: Nil) of assessable profits of this
subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, corporate income tax (“CIT")
has been provided at the rate of 25% (2018: 25%) on
the taxable income of the subsidiaries operating in
Mainland China during the year, except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group, which are qualified small and
micro-sized enterprises (“SMEs"”) under Caishui [2019]
No.13. According to Caishui [2019] No.13 effective
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021, qualified
SMEs refer to enterprises that do not engage in any
restricted or prohibited industries in the PRC and meet
the criteria of (i) number of staff not exceeding 300; (ii)
total assets not exceeding RMB50,000,000; and (iii)
annual taxable income not exceeding RMB3,000,000.
Qualified SMEs are eligible for a reduced CIT rate of
20%, 75% reduction of taxable income for the first
RMB1,000,000 taxable income and 50% reduction of
taxable income for the remaining taxable income.

AEEAREREERAKEB B L
AIFEMAR S R EEMAERDEEREENK
KB ZMAEMBRAEHR - RIBEFS
BEERARRA - NRRBAGHEM
FR1SEL -

ERFRRERBTE S 2 BT BRH
i F 12 16.56% (ZZF — \F : 16.6%) Z
REERFSHEE  RASEN—MH
MBARN ZHBARTIEHE_-E
—N\F/ T NFRHFERERL
MAMEHEREFETHEIRER - Z
B A A1 A & 2,000,000 L (—F— N\
FE)NERTRFTER8.25% -« #4
THYFERBUR AT X £ 16.5% ©

BIE R B ATE A R ABRE ARG - AT
SBHICEMSEHR D ERFARETE
R Hb AE 2 B BT B A A Y FE AR B AR A IR
25% (ZZ— )\ : 25%) 7 B = ¢ ) #
B AEBNETHBAGRIN ZE
NE A B2019]1135% T H & BI& /A
WA (T NERMFEZE]) - BB
20191135 (R=—E—NEFE—HA—HBZ—
T —F+-A=F+—HEHR) AEHE
NV RO ZE PR R P B N A B A2
FREISEN 1T B A A NS IR « ()
BT AHTHBIBAI0E : (BEEETB
B A R ¥ 50,000,000 7T X (iii) & FERR
AT IE AR 3,000,0007C - & &
NIRRT ZH20% HEIEDZE
FiiStisiE - B ARE 1,000,000 7T K FE
R U AT E B 75% B FE R B U AR
% MER TR ERBUWARIT] ZH50%
R ERBHW AR R ©

2019 2018

“E-hAE  —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current BNER 5,860 8,437
Deferred (note 23) IERE (FH7E23) 171 (138)
Total tax charge for the year ERFIBES Ha5E 6,031 8,299
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRSBiBE (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit RARR A R HAKE M B A BT Sz
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in FRE B 2R 205 TE Bt R 5 E R B A& Kl 2
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries BAMERY BRERNERGTE 2HIE
are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax Sz #ER  ARGEAB R (BEER
rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., =) EEREHE 2 HERAT
the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as
follows:

2019 2018

—E-AEFE ZE-N\F
HK$"000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Profit before tax R 5 BE A 36,344 19,806
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% AT X 16.5% st EH 2 18 5,997 3,268
Effect on different taxation rate AR B AR RN R 2 2

in Mainland China 688 1,045
Lower tax rates enacted by local tax  #h5Ei 75 B &l E E{KF X

authorities (789) -
Income not subject to tax HBAZFUA (362) (194)
Expenses not deductible for tax DATH0A 32 H 598 4,030
Tax losses utilised from previous B AR AT IR AR

periods (101) -
Tax losses not recognised REEATIEEE - 210
Tax concession G R - (60)
Total tax charge for the year FRMIEL K458 6,031 8,299

11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE

The board of directors does not recommend the EEETERKNEE_ZE—NF+=
payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 A=+t—HBLEFENRBERE(ZZE—N
December 2019 (2018: Nil). F |
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. B ARIEEEZHEAEGER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 397,260,000
(2018: 300,000,000) in issue during the year, as
adjusted for the assumption that 299,620,000 new
shares issued pursuant to the Capitalisation Issue (as
defined in note 24(i)) had been issued on 1 January
2018, which is made to be consistent with the basis of
presentation of the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

&7

EREAAMNDERG AR LR
BB BARLMERNEN REA
2 2 17397,260,000 A% ( — & — )\ £ :
300,000,000 A% ) 3 78 I &9 hnE F 19 AR 8L
(BABUABRER _—_ZE—N\E—H—H
RIEE AT (ERRMEE240) B 3%
17299,620,000 Ik ¥ I 10 ) 5T & - H &
HE_Z—hhF+-_A=+—HBLEFE
R RS 25 EE—B -

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in AEERBE_Z-—NFEFRZZF—N\F
issue during the years ended 31 December 2019 and T A=+ —HILFEVEEEITHNE
2018. EEEEER -

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

AEEBRMLERIATEE G

'
-
it

Earnings 2019 2018
27 —E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Profit attributable to ordinary equity — sTESAREAR RE#EZ T
holders of the parent, used in the FTRAMS AR L BER
basic and diluted earnings per A AR F
share calculations 30,313 11,507
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. B ARESERREEAEBLER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BR (&)
PARENT (Continued)

Shares Number of shares
ey Ko #E
2019 2018
—E-AE —T)N\F
‘000 '000
TR TR
Number of issued shares on R—A—BEBTRMNEE
1 January 380 380
Effect of the Capitalisation Issue on RZ-ZT—hF—A+—BH#ETT
11 January 2019 (note 24(i) B BITRIRE (FHaE 240)) 299,620 299,620
Weighted average number of RZE—hF—A+—H
ordinary shares in issue upon EEREE TR BIEITHY
completion of global offering on T I S IR &
11 January 2019 97,260 -
Weighted average number of STESGRER R #E 2N P AR
ordinary shares used in the 37 A AN AE S 9 AR B
basic and diluted earnings per
share calculations 397,260 300,000
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31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y%  BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures Equipment
Land and Leasehold and office  Plantand for rental Motor
buildings improvements equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
HE GB %ER Rt
THRET NEEE BAZRE  HEREE  BERE bt @it
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Tin TR TiEn TR TiEn Tin TR
31 December 2019 —E-fE+ZA=1-A
Cost; B
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-H 5978 1,240 1,290 3123 6,927 248 18,806
Additions AE - 265 1,150 600 - 285 2,300
Disposal HE - - (173) (396) - - (569)
Transfer* e - - - - 1,821 - 1,821
Exchange realignment BEiAE (102) (21) (23) (56) (144) (4) (350)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+-R 5,876 1,484 2,244 32N 8,610 529 2,014
Accumulated depreciation: BEHE:
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF-F-A 1,793 588 851 2,857 1,986 248 8,323
Provided during the year EREeE 298 31 466 283 1535 63 2,976
Disposal irt= - - (168) (391) - - (559)
Exchange realignment 5 A% (35) (15) (13) (47) (55) (4) (169)
At 31 December 2019 RF-NETZA=1-H 2,056 904 1,136 2,702 3,466 307 1057
Net book value: FE3E:
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NE+-A=1-H 3,820 580 1,108 569 5,144 222 11,443
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BMERKE (&)
(Continued)
Fumiture,
fixtures Equipment
Land and Leasshold  andoffice  Plantand for rental Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
HE KB %2R At
THRET NEEE AR BEREH HBEZGE ol &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn T TiEn TiEn T TiEn TiEn
31 December 2018 ZE-N\EtZR=t-H
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 R-B-\-f-H 6,298 1307 1,165 3370 7,390 261 19,791
Additions e - - 205 N - = 226
Disposals e = - (36) (99) 1,073) - (1,208)
Transfers* E - - - - 982 - 982
Exchange realignment EiAE (320) 67) (44) (169) (372) (13) (985)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-A=1-H 5,978 1,240 1290 RAVA! 6,927 248 18,806
Accumulated depreciation:  Z3HHFE
At 1 January 2018 R=E-\E—f-H 1,574 175 769 2,713 1,392 261 6,884
Provided during the year EREE 312 440 191 345 1314 - 2,602
Disposals & - - (36) 97) 607) - (740)
Exchange realignment 5% (93) (27) (73) (104) (113) (13) 423)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+ZA=1-H 1793 588 851 2,857 1,986 248 8,323
Net book value: BRFE
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\E+-A=1-H 4185 662 439 266 494 - 10,483
2 Transfers represented the fact that the purpose of “SkyEye dispatcher” & BEHE [SkyEye #E 88 | RAINE BB EZ
and thermal infrared imager were changed from sale to lease and the AR HEEAHE WEMBEEEFS
products were reclassified from inventories to property, plant and BEWE - BEREE -

equipment accordingly.
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14. LEASES 14. HE
The Group as a lessee FEBEEREBEA
The Group has lease contracts for Office Properties and AEERBEHRAEMHER —HEALHM
a car parking space with lease terms between 1 to 5 E4F HEHRAIELF - —K
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning T AEETBEARSEBEAINEE R E
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. HEEBE -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use FAREBEFEAEEENREEBER
assets and the movements during the year are as BEERAT
follows:
Office
Properties
and a car
parking space
WAEYE
& —{BERL
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 January 2019 RZZT—hF—HA—H 11,278
Additions NE 1,326
Depreciation charge WE® (5,303)
Remeasurement resulting from EiRAI R IEHHE M BT E
early-termination of a lease (423)
Exchange realignment PE 5,382 (69)
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NE+HA=+—H 6,809
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14.

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

HE (F)
AKEERFEA (B)
(b) HEEME

ENEESBHEDEREHER
o :

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
FHER
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BHEEAEE 11,278
New leases FEE 1,326
Accretion of interest recognised during FRNRERH BT S
the year 544
Remeasurement resulting from FiRpIR FAEMENT =
early-termination of a lease (434)
Payments SANE -4 (5,415)
Exchange realignment PE 5, A% (70)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+t-—A=+—H&EEE 7,229
Analysed into: DR -
Current portion BRERER 4,907
Non-current portion FEBNERER 2,322

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.
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14.

15.

LEASES (Continued)

14. FHE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBEREBEA (B)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c)

to leases are as follows:

ERRPHAEEAEE@NSEN
s =

2019
—E-hF
HK$'000
FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 544
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEEREE 5,303
Total amount recognised in profit or loss £+ AIBz5#E %8 5,847
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash (d) HEMIR SR BEE R RS

outflows relating to leases that have not yet
commenced are disclosed in notes 26 (c) and 28,

respectively, to the financial statements.

MWHEEABHRIIBE R D BIE
BT TS TR FR BT 5E 26(c) K2 28 I FE ©

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. BILEE
Computer
software
BB
HK$'000
FAET
Cost at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 RZ-ZZE—N\E—H—H Z—ZZT—N\%F
and 1 January 2019, net of accumulated +—A=+—BER=_ZE—NF—A—H
amortisation BIRCAS - 0Bk 2T =
Additions NE 1,048
Amortisation provided during the year FERNEEBRE (167)
Exchange realignment FE X, % (12)
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+ZA=+—H 869
At 31 December 2019 R-FE—NF+-_A=+—H
Cost PR 1,034
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (165)
Net carrying amount BREFE 869
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16

17.

. INVENTORIES 6. 7&

2019 2018
—FE-hF  —FAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Components and consumables B4 KOBREan 982 997
Semi-finished products E e 6,052 2,093
Finished products R 41,892 40,180
48,926 43,270

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. EZRWHREREKREE

2019 2018
—2-hE —B-N\&
HK$'000  HK$'000

FHT T

Trade receivables B 5 W FIE 90,040 97,020
Bills receivables LS 17,673 15,921
107,713 112,941

Impairment RIE (1,076) (1,216)
106,637 111,725

The Group’'s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally one to three months. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has a credit control policy to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Trade and bills receivables are non-
interest-bearing.
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17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. EZREWFIEREWERE (&)
(Continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as RIS EIRIREZ A HSTNE 5 EIK
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice FIE K EWER A BRER ST T (F0BR &
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: B
2019 2018

—E-nE  ZEFNF
HK$'000  HK$'000

FHxT T
Less than 3 months PR=EA 67,563 63,800
3 to 6 months =Z=XEA 14,502 20,602
6 to 12 months ANETZEA 7,662 13,850
Over 1 year —FE A F 16,910 13,473
106,637 111,725

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment B 5 MR TE I FE UK 2R IR K R (B R 1R B

of trade and bills receivables are as follows: BERNEEERAT

2019 2018

—B-hE —F-N\F
HK$'000  HK$'000

FHET FHIT

At beginning of year REH] 1,216 2,760
Reversal of doubtful receivables, net fEUGKIE R BRE EF5E (i1 6)

(note 6) (136) (1,552)

Exchange realignment b (4) 8

At end of year RER 1,076 1,216
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17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

An impairment analysis of trade and bills receivables is
performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade and bills
receivables are written off if past due for more than
three years and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade and bills receivables

using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

BZEWRERERRE (&)

RERSARORARGREELETES
F& Wk I N R R R IR RRE 2 AT+ LARH
ERMEERR  BEXTLERRER
BUBEREANZ AT, BETHND
MEE BB E - KT B RBREAR
EER  EREERNHREAMARF
MABBBEFE - BRI RRRKEE
BN SERASEEM - — &N
5 HWaEE=F Y EX DR HH
TR - BB 5 EUKIA M ERRES
T AMEH o

UT AR EERARBERENES
B MR SR R AR 7 1 PR LB
B

R-B-NhF+=-A=+—H

Past due  Past due
more than more than

1 year 2years  Past due
but within  but within over
2 years 3 years 3 years Total

YRR AmEa

—&{8 mEE  AHER

PRME  DR=F =F o

Past due

within

Current 1 year

BHHR

0 -

ECLs rate EHEEEER 0%-0.4% 2.2%
Gross carrying amount RHAE(TAT)

(HK$'000) 102,233 4,370

ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEER(TATL) 339 96

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018

17. EZRWHREARERRE (&)

R-ZFB-NF+=ZA=+—H

Pastdue  Pastdue
more than ~ more than
Past due 1 year 2years  Pastdue
within but within  but within over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
IEEIN —&{ WERE  AHEA
I £ DRME  PR=F =F @it
ECLs rate BHEEERE 0%-0.2% 1.1% 4.7% 83.8% 100% 0-1.3%
Gross carrying amount ERAE(TET)
(HK$'000) 103,090 8,260 673 - 918 112,941
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEEEE(TAT) 175 91 32 - 918 1,216

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

18. AMNFIE - RERHMEWFKIA

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Prepayments FEfE 2,813 3,410
Deposits and other receivables & R H MR EIE 3,430 13,644
Prepaid listing cost B LA - 18,758
6,243 35,812

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free.

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there were no recent
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

B aEEMARE

LS AEENeREERIRNLA
EHREaNeBENRETFIAER -
R-E—NhER-_F-—NFE+_A
=t+—B BERGEFLEAREK -
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19. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

9. RERMITEER

2019 2018

—FE-hF  —FAF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Cash and bank balances /e MIRTTEERR 173,347 49,144
Time deposits THFER 3,780 3,772
177,127 52,916

At the end of reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$38,888,000 (2018: HK$18,377,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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20. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

20. EZENRIE

RBEMRRBEZBMINTNEZEN

FORHFREE DTN T

2019 2018

“E-hAE  —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month DR —1{E A 5,100 6,300
1 to 3 months —Z=18A 461 2,716
Over 3 months =@EAMNE 1,686 4,870
7,247 13,886

The trade payables are interest-free and are normally

settled ranging from 30 to 90 days.

B 5 RNRENT BB EMNIR30

£90H -

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HtERARIERETEH
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FABT
Other payables H e 308 4,070 4,698
Accruals FEETER 5,723 8,619
Accrued listing expenses FEst EmMAX - 25,511
9,793 38,828

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are Hitn BN RIBET ERBER —FALE
normally settled within one year. -F o
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE

The following table provides information about contract TRISEAEFLEHNNEHNEEELR
liabilities from contracts with customers:

2019 2018
—E-hAEFE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T
Contract liabilities AHAaG 7,430 13,497
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the REBHNASHBBETERRNETRERNRK
advance payments made by customers while the I8 - MAE R E ek RAS M R 1R o
underlying goods or services are yet to be provided.
Changes in the contract liabilities during the years REZ-_Z—NEFEX_FT—N\F+_H
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: =T —HIEFERNEGNBEEZFHI SN
S ¢
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
At beginning of year REH] 13,497 5,531
Revenue recognised that was REPT AL BB
included in the contract liabilities M BRI
balance at beginning of year (12,095) (5,531)
Increases due to cash received, A WIR g  TNEER
excluding amounts recognised as FREER BB EHFRE
revenue during the year 6,028 13,497
At end of year REXR 7,430 13,497
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year RIERIBEERNFEANRNEFHINT :

are as follows:
Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE

Provision

for

Unpaid inventories
accrued andtrade Unrealised

expenses receivables profit Total
FERES
REA FElE
FESHBI BE REREA st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER FER TER

2019 “E-NF
At 1 January 2019 R-Z-h&—H—H 424 318 1,498 2,240
Deferred tax credited/ HFA/GRE) FRBEZ

(charged) to profit or loss EIERE (K 10)

during the year (note 10) (297) 1 125 (171)
Exchange realignment Rk (4) (2) - (6)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1+—H 123 317 1,623 2,063
2018 —E-N\F
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZE—-\E—H—H 644 585 905 2,134
Deferred tax credited/ A/ (HRE)FRBREZ

(charged) to profit or loss EIERE (K 10)

during the year (note10) (195) (260) 593 138
Exchange realignment ERTIEEE S (25) (7) = (32)
At 31 December 2018 R-Z-\%+-RA=+—H 424 318 1,498 2,240
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% (or a lower rate if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors) withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2019, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group's earnings will be retained in
Mainland China, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2019, the
aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China was approximately HK$3,396,000 (2018:
HK$2,981,000).

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China
of HK$109,000 (2018: HK$210,000) that will expire in
four years (2018: one to five years) for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BB
2019 2018
—B-NEFE ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAC
400,000,000 (2018: 380,000) 400,000,000 & (ZZF— N\ :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 380,000 f%) FAREE
0.01 B TA) iR 4,000 4
A summary of movements in the Company’s share RABRRRAZEB B Z 0T -
capital is as follows:
Number of
shares in Share
issue capital
21T
Eeaharid= [N
Notes ‘000 HK$'000
Bt ek T FHET
At 1 January 2018, 31 December R =—ZE—N\F—F—H -
2018 and 1 January 2019 —E-N\Ft+=-A=+—H
;r—F—hhF—AF—H 380 4
Capitalisation Issue B BT (i) 299,620 2,996
New issue of shares from PIREFEERFBITRG (ii)
global offering 100,000 1,000

At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+-_A=+—H 400,000 4,000

Notes: B -

(i) Pursuant to a written resolution of the shareholders of the Company 0] BREARRBRRAZZTE-—NF+=A+N\A
passed on 18 December 2018, a total of 299,620,000 shares of BRAMNEERZR RLEWAH  &H#
HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued at par value to the shareholders 299,620,000 % & A% [ {8 0.01 8 7T &9 AR {7 18
of the Company as of the date immediately before the Listing Date on a B G AN A B IR 19 4 (B BR R #92,996,200 7% 7T
pro rata basis by way of capitalisation of HK$2,996,200 (the BB AN MR E E R IR L G A 3% R 31T T
“Capitalisation Issue”) from the Company’s share premium account on HEZE FTARPIIZANAQRRE(E
the Listing Date. LT ©

(ii) On the Listing Date, 100,000,000 new shares were issued at a price of (ii) £ B H - 100,000,000 A% 5 A% 13 5t A& A
HK$1.25 per share in connection with the Company’s initial public AIRBRTE A AREEMERER1.2587T
offering on the Stock Exchange. The net proceeds from the global HERERTT - KB BHERES EARAR
offering, after deducting the underwriting commission and related listing IRBERNMIERE EMRAXE  2REE
expenses payable by the Company in the global offering, were FriSIEFREN R8I 2BEBT °

approximately HK$81.2 million.
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25. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

Other reserve

The balance represented the aggregate paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment costs
in subsidiaries of the Company during the
Reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC
shall appropriate a certain percentage of their net profit
after tax (after offsetting any prior years' losses)
calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to the reserve fund.
When the balance of this reserve fund reaches 50% of
the entity’s capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset
prior years' losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be
maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after
these usages. After making the appropriation to the
statutory surplus reserve, the Company's subsidiaries
may also appropriate their profits for the year to the
discretionary surplus reserve upon approval by the
board of directors or the shareholders in a general
meeting.
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26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 26.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(a)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$1,326,000 and HK$1,326,000, respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for Office
Properties and a car parking space (2018: Nil).

RERERERMEE

TEHREXS

FR - ARERRAEDER—(E
BEUHERNERREEREE
BEMNFERESEND B A
1,326,000;% 7T K& 1,326,000 7T
(ZF—NF:8])-

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFTHEENEESEH
activities:
2019 —E-hE
Accrued
listing
expenses
included
in other
payables Lease
and accruals liabilities
AEM
EARER
FEsTERN
Bt EHEX HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hd—HA—H 9 -
Changes from financing BERESRE2EH)
cash flows (9) (4,871)
At 31 December 2019 R—ZT—-h&+-A=+—H1 - (4,871)
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26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 26. EBRERERMET(E)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETBELNEEEE : (B
activities: (Continued)
2018 —=E-N\E
Accrued
listing
expenses
included
in other
payables
and accruals
FTAEA
FE(TFRIE K
JEErEARN
25t EmAX
HK$'000
F&TT
At 1 January 2018 R=E—N\E—A—H 239
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREEE (17,905)
Recognition of prepaid listing expenses WEREN EHER 17,675
At 31 December 2018 N_E—N\F+=_A=+—8H 9
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEMBESRLALEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the GERERERTEENHEER
consolidated statement of cash flows is as ML AREIT ¢
follows:
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Within financing activities A EHEEA (4,871)
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27. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 27.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not pledge any
assets (31 December 2018: Nil).

28. COMMITMENTS 28.

(a)

(b)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did
not have any significant commitments.

Operating lease commitments as at 31
December 2018

The Group leased certain of its Office Properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
Office Properties were negotiated for terms
ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

BEEEMA

R-ZEBE—NE+=-_A=1+—H K&£E
VEKBEMEE(ZZE—N\E+_-A
=t+t—H:&)-

Y

(a) MI|EHR AEEWHEEMEKN
FRIE o

(b) R=ZE2—N\E+=-A=+—H
M SR ERIE

AEERBEELEHELHHERT
HRAEYE - MEMEFHRER
R—ERF -

RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—H &
BETRIHEGEEEHEY  AREZE
HEMNARRKERSEENOT

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
FHET

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years FE_EZERF

5,073
4,897

9,970
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. FEBARS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the BMRZEM B HmREMI G ATl 2R

financial statements, the Group had the following S9N RNEB R E A ERHE T ETAT

transactions with related parties during the year: R5:

(a) Names of the Group's principal related (a) AEEXEEBHIZ2HER B
parties and their relationship with the BRHEASEEZBARE
Group:

Name of related parties Relationship

BHAZEE/ B8 B%

Mr. YEUNG Director

i %

Ms. WONG Director

E e X

Peiport Scientific Limited A company controlled by Mr. YEUNG
and Ms. WONG

BEREEB AT BEERTRTHEHN—FAR

(b) Significant related party transactions (b) FAEANEHAIRXZOT
during the year are as follows:

2019 2018

—E-RAE EZE-N\F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

iz FER FH&T

Rental fee paid to directors MREEXMHNHEEER (i) 1,436 1,489

Rental fee paid to Peiport M EEHEA R A A

Scientific Limited WHEEEM (i), (i) 1,777 =

Notes: BEE -

(i) Certain subsidiaries in Mainland China rented commercial units (i) A E THE A RRERE R
from Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG as offices which were made ERmBEERTRTHERESN
in accordance with terms in lease agreements. These are EAPRE - BRI LM A& 14A
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the 5 RERFERERS -

Listing Rules.

RBE-_ZT-NAF+=-A=+—HB1E
FE - RHDBRERE HEERE
T RIBEEMRAUNB14AAE - 25 hH
RERERS -

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2019, the transactions (i)
were made in accordance with terms in lease agreements.
These are continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.

(i During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group occupied iy REEZZ-N\F+ZA=+—H1t
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the offices owned by Peiport Scientific Limited at a nil
consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M aE (5])

31 December 2019 —E— W F+_H=+—H

29.

30.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group:

Details of the compensation of key management
personnel of the Group, who are the directors, are
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all financial assets
of the Group including trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables and cash and bank balances were
stated at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2019, all financial liabilities of the
Group including trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and lease
liabilities were stated at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2018, all financial liabilities of the
Group including trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals were stated at
amortised cost.

The Group’s classification of its financial assets and
liabilities are explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

29.

30.

BB S X% (&)

(c) XEEFTEEBEASZHH

AEBTIREBEAB(BRER)Z
HNF BRI mRMESWE -

BERES 2EMITA

R-EBE-INER-_F-NF+=-A
=t—B AKREMELMEE B8R
BHRYHRANEERERE - sFABRMRK
R RBEe MEMERRIEN S R E E A
K& MARTTRESRIGIRE AT IFR -

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H K5E
FrEERAE BRESZEMNFR &
AEMEMNRAEREFERNERAR
RHE R EHIZEHER AT -

RZB-NF+ZA=+—0 "  £A5H
FEcRAE BRESEMNFIEA &
AEMEMNFTAEREFTERNERAE
DI HNATIRR -

AEEHESREERABY RORE
HNMEREME24 -

HEERERAT / 2019F 3K
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, management has assessed
that the fair values of trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals and lease liabilities approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

As at 31 December 2018, management has assessed
that the fair values of trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade
payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group's financial controller is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. At each
reporting date, the financial controller analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

1. TMIENATERLAFERER

R-F-—N&E+-_A=+—H EEE
RFBRRBR  BHRYGAREKE
& FEARNMRR - RE RHE UK
BNTRMEE BHeMRITEHR EH
FERN R - SEAR BN TAEREFE
AnsRABEREERENAFERE
FREERE  DEBHARZFTIARE
HAE B

R-B-NE+A=+—H EBE
RAHEERRS  BEZRBFAREKRRE
B St AENFOR - S R E R R
BNEREE R RBITEHR BEH
e BRIE R 5t A E B AN R IR M B AT &
AesmAaEN A FTEEALREEN
o DEEHRZETAREHRNEE -

AEBMHREAEBETERTAR
FEFAEZERREREF REHRER
B MEeEs e TARTFEZE
PREEHETAEANEIZEGAHNT

CREENBBZAFENLETNER
BRE(MIEBER D EEMNHE) BER
THETHRGTPRIBVEBMTANSE



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
ISR MEE ()
31 December 2019 —ZE—hF+_-_A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. cRIEREEBERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by subsidiaries
in currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional
currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible

AEEZIECRHIAEBRER S RRTT
R RFERMIAZIEREI RN
SEzEEERES -AKEHESE
HomEERTRAE  WEHEK
REARERRENESEMNFIE  BiE
REEEE -

AEBzeMTAMEENTIZRRR
SMNERER - EEERRRESE SRR o
EXeEMAAMEEREZFRABRMEK
R - BRABGRR T3t -

5B R B
AEEAERZERRR - BRARRR

BB ARAMBRRIEEE AN
B P 2 SHE SRS -

TREFEZHEMEETEFRT
BEPHRAEEZGRANENEATEEE

change by 1% in the US$ exchange rate against RMB, ENBBEATEEHYHETLARKE
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's EEBETEHN1 % HBRE
profit before tax due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
If US$ strengthens against RMB ETHAREIHE (1,326) (1,108)
If US$ weakens against RMB ETHARKE(E 1,326 1,108
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely N £2 B3 3B 7 ) BL B GE 5k B B 18 H 4D

monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

PE R ©

HEERERAT / 2019F 3K



170

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B R AR MY aE (4R)

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

As at 31 December 2019

32. SREMEEBEERBE(E)

FERR

AEEERERTREEAENFE =T
ETEE ARENBERMARER
EREXETEECEPHARRER
BAZIEF © LS - AEBFEEITER
SIRAERR - BN KB bR 8058 AR AL R 3
RERK e

RERERKFERER

TRHFINERAKENEERRNEER
BREkeEaEERR  TEERNBHE
# (BRIFRMER I EEAN BT BER
AEBONBERTER)  ER-2F—N
FERZZF-NFTZA=+—HOEFH
PR - 2N EBSEETRE
EARREE -

R-BE-NAE+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A EH
GEFR HRAEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
E1RE F2RB ER] A% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Trade and bills receivables* ZoENTAR ENER - - - 106,637 106,637
Financial assets included in STABMAFE  BER
prepayments, deposits, KA e REE
and other receivables
— Normal** = e 3,430 - - - 3430
— Doubtful** — g ** - - - - -
Cash and bank balances ReRBTES
— Not yet past due — WA 177,127 - - - 177,127
180,557 - - 106,637 287,194
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M aE (5])

31 December 2019 —E— W F+_H=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. cREREEEERBER (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BERBRFERER (E)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2018 R=-ZEB-NE+=-HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
120 A%EH
EEER cHRAEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1[RE F2MRE F3MREE BlLn# b

HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

Trade and bills receivables* BORWER YRR - - - 111,725 111,725
Financial assets included in STARNNE  Bek
prepayments, deposits, AENGIEN S REE
and other receivables
— Normal** = ek 35,812 - - - 35,812
— Doubtful** — g . . B - N
Cash and bank balances Be RS
— Not yet past due — HABE 52,916 - - - 52,916
88,728 - - 111,725 200,453
3 For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified 2 RAEEEABCRETENE S EIKRIE
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is MEW R - ERBEEREAE R RIS HR
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements. RUFE17HEE -
3G The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, P fHET ATB T « Re REMBRGIENS
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they MEEVARSHETEEHBETNZEREE
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial HIEERK B VAR AR KEE M - 8
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. HEEEZWERAIERE]  BR - eBEE
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be HEEE R A 8] -
“doubtful”.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBER AEEAZETEEES
certain concentrations of credit risk as 36% (2018: B ARAEEMNESEBRERE
42%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from 36% (ZZF—/\F : 42%) ThHAEEW
the Group's two largest customers. REFHER o
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's B RASRERE 5 M HRE KB KRB
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills MEENEERBNEZ S HEHRE
receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial R BHREMEE7
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])

31 December 2019 —E—hF+—-H=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. eREBEEEERBEK ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk RENE £ Bk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEBERESBEAKEMGBRARBEE
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of REMEFESHEMHETTE 2B
internally generated cash flows from operations. The T AEBEHRTEFTZEESRR
Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to AW RE R B 480 B 7% B IR AT R
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in MBI -

meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as REBRMEBRIZE HRITIRA KA
at the end of the reporting period, based on the LRIBEIEELAT
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2019 —EB-hEF
On demand
and
less than
1year 1tobyears Total
RERR
PR—F —ZHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
Trade payables B 5 e I8 7,247 - 7,247
Financial liabilities included &t A E fih & {5 28 &
in other payables and ErrEANERAE
accruals 1,649 - 1,649
Lease liabilities HEAE 5,210 2,479 7,689
14,106 2,479 16,585
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M aE (5])

31 December 2019 —E— W F+_H=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

33.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

32.

TREREERERICK (8)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REES R (&)
2018 —E-N\F
On demand
and less than
1 year
REKXK
DR—F
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables Z SR RIE 13,886
Financial liabilities included in ST A E th < FRIE 2
other payables and accruals EAERANSREE 25,198
39,084
Capital management EXER

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

33.

AEBEAEEZIZHAR/RERE
BRFELENRENINEFRRRENERL
K AXBEEBELRERBRREERZA
lE =

AEEREELERLSECREBEER
RREHBEELEERNERERELFE -
BRI ENERE  ANEBE AR
BRSNS TREMRE - MRRREER
REITHR D - AEEHAEFEMIN
HEMNERRTE - RBE=ZFT— N5
MZZE-—NFE+_A=+—HLEFE"
EREARZBE  BRSIEFILEED
EfES -

BREHREH

BZZE-NFT+A=+—HBEEXF
ERECBHARILER  AEERNEN -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
SR EE (8)
31 December 2019 —ZE—hF+=-A=+—H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. &2 R#MHMR &K
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of BEAARRERRERARNIH BRI TR

the Company at the end of the reporting period is as BRHAT -
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE  ZF-NAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries B A TR E —* it
Right-of-use assets FRELE 1,116 -
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 1,116 —*
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries JRE s B BB A B 3IE 12 11
Prepayments, deposits TERRIR « e kA M EIGRIE
and other receivables 625 18,897
Cash and bank balances He RIRITES 86,307 -
Total current assets TEEEAE 86,944 18,908
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Amount due to subsidiaries FERH B A T8 2,831 13,649
Other payables and accruals H A R E R BT E A 1,599 26,520
Lease liabilities HEaE 364 i
Total current liabilities TEAREAE 4,794 40,169
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ REBEE (&) FHE
(LIABILITIES) 82,150 (21,261)
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By B AR Y R (4R

31 December 2019 —ZFE— N F+—-A=+—H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

34. RRQFIBMBEMRRE (E)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBERS
LIABILITIES 83,266 (21,261)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 810 =
Total non-current liabilities MBI B EEE 810 -
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(8%)FE 82,456 (21,261)
EQUITY s
Share capital N 4,000 4
Reserves/(accumulated losses) (note) ##,(2:tEE) (Mi:t) 78,456 (21,265)
Total equity/(deficiency in assets) W EE (CBEBL) 82,456 (21,261)

The amount is less than HK$1,000.

YEUNG Lun Ching
B

Director
S

WONG Kwan Lik

FEh
Director

EF

SEAP1,00087T

REZERERAE /2019F R

175



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])
31 December 2019 —ZE—hF+=-A=+—H

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. &AQA R REK (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B sE
A summary of the Company's reserves/(accumulated losses) is as follows: RAREE (RETER)BENT
Accumulated
Share premium losses Total
B RE AiER Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2018 R=F—N\E—HA—H = = =
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREAEEGEERE - (21,265) (21,265)

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R-Z—N\F+-_A=+—HK

—ZT-hF—A—H - (21,265) (21,265)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEIEEEE - (2,525) (2,525)
Capitalisation Issue BARALEETT (2,996) - (2,996)
New issue of shares from global offering B 2B ENFHBITRMGD 124,000 - 124,000
Share issue expenses R&AD 31 TR X (18,758) - (18,758)
At 31 December 2019 R=_F—h&+-_A=+—H 102,246 (23,790) 78,456

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 35. #tEMKERRK

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised FBRREN_E_EF=A_+1~H
for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2020. KEEHE RIRETIE -
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